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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

December 15, 2015

Honorable City Council
City of Muskogee
Muskogee, Oklahoma

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities,
each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Muskogee, Oklahoma, (City) as of and
for the year ended June 30, 2015, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the
City’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with

accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design, implementation, and ;
maintenance of interna! control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free |
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. |

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit |
in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards applicable |
to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the comptroller General of the United
States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of the risks of 5‘
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, |
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the financial
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.
An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial
statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinions.

‘ . ) 1
Members of American Institute and Oklahoma Society of CPA’s and Inpact Americas, an International Network of independent accounting firms
Serving Our Clients Since 1960



City of Muskogee
December 15,2015

Opinions

[In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial
position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major fund and the aggregate remaining fund
information of the City of Muskogee, Oklahoma, as of June 30, 2015, and the respective changes in financial position,

thereof for the year then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
- America. _ :

Other Matters
Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management's discussion
and analysis, pension exhibits and budgetary comparison information on pages 3 — 8 and 50-54 and the notes on page
55 be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic
financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential-
part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic or historical
context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management
about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management's
responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the
basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the
limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance

Other Supplementary Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively comprise the
City's basic financial statements. The combining statements are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are
not a required part of the basic financial statements. The schedule of expenditures of federal awards is presented for
purposes of additional analysis, and is also not a required part of the basic financial statements.

The combining statements and the schedule of expenditures of federal awards are the responsibility of management
and were derived from and relate directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic

financial statements. Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic
- financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to
the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial
statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in
the United States of America. In our opinion, the combining statements and the schedule of expenditures of federal
awards are fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated December 15, 2015, on our
consideration of the City’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain
provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report is to
describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and results of that testing,
and not to provide an opinion on the internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an
integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the City’s internal
control over financial reporting and compliance.

CBb) Profuosenad Srowp, (i

CBEW Professional Group, LLP
Certified Public Accountants
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2015
Unaudited

The City of Muskogee (the “City”) discussion and analysis is designed to (a) assist the reader in focusing on
significant financial issues, (b) provide an overview of the City's financial activity, (c) identify changes in the city’s

financial position, (d) identify any material deviations from the financial plans, and (e) identify individual fund
issues or concerns. :

Since the Management's Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) is designed to focus on the current years activities,
resulting changes and currently known facts, please review the basic financial statements and the notes to the
basic financial statements to enhance their understanding of the City’s financial performance.

HIGHLIGHTS
Financial Highlights

e The City's Net Position increased by $159,109
* The total cost of all the City's programs was $50,433,054

e During the year, the City had expenses of $43,054,322 for governmental activities which was $8,609,617
more than the $34,444,705 generated in taxes, program revenues and other financing sources.

» The City's business-type activities decreased net position by $3,644,836 from operations.

USING THIS ANNUAL REPORT

The annual report consists of a series of financial statements. The Statement of Net Position and the Statement
of Activities (pages 9-11) provide information about the activities of the City as a whole and present a longer-term
view of the City's finances. Fund financial statements begin on page 12. For governmental activities, these
statements tell how these services were financed in the short term as well as what remains for future spending.
Fund financial statements also report the City’s operations in more detail by providing information about the City’s
most significant funds. The remaining statements provide financial information about activities for which the City
acts solely as a trustee or agent for the benefit of those outside of the government.




The City as Trustee

The City is the trustee, or fiduciary, for the Employee Retirement Fund, Health and Insurance Fund, C.C. Huiltquist
Library Fund and the Escrow Fund. The City's fiduciary activities are reported in separate Statements of
Fiduciary Net Position and Changes in Fiduciary Net Position on pages 19-20. We exclude these activities from
the City's other financial statements because the City cannot use these assets to finance its operations. The City
is responsible for ensuring that the assets reported in these funds are used for their intended purposes.

The City holds deposits for various individuals and businesses for contract performance which are then returned
when the contract has been completed. These deposits are accounted for in an Agency fund, where assets equal

liabilities.

THE CITY AS A WHOLE

GOVERNMENT-WIDE STATEMENTS

Statement of Net Position

The following table reflects the condensed Statement of Net Position as of June 30, 2015:

Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities Total
6/30/15 6/30/14 6/30/15 6/30/14 6/30/15 6/30/14

Current and other assets  $ 22972459 $ 20,984,204 $ 13,679,464 $ 16,494,823 $ 36,651,923 $ 37,479,027
Capital assets 187,368,680 185,631,594 91,390,909 88,765,030 278,759,589 274,396,624

Total assets 210,341,139 206,615,798 105,070,373 105,259,853 315,411,512 311,875,651
Deferred ouflows 1,6Q5,821 1,150,533 - - 1,605,821 1,150,533
Long-term liabilities 2,146,809 3,688,977 54,008,702 49,935,555 56,155,511 53,524,532
Other liabilities 31,694,772 34,855,407 1,116,078 1,733,871 32,810,850 36,589,278

Total liabilities 33,841,581 38,444,384 55,124,780 51,669,426 88,966,361 90,113,810
Deferred inflows 4,661,962 - - - 4,66_1 ,962 -
Net position;

Investment in capital assets 185,221,871 182,042,617 37,382,207 38,829,475 222,604,078 220,872,092

Restricted 10,800,703 9,383,738 7,576,526 11,703,713 18,377,229 21,087,451

Unrestricted (22,579,157) (22,104,408) 4,986,860 3,057,239 (17,592,297) (19,047,169)

Total net position $ 173443417 $ 169,321,947 $ 49,945593 §$ 53,590,427 $ 223,389,010 $ 222,912,374

For more detail information see the Statement of Net Position on page 9.

The City's combined net position increased from $223,229,901 to $223,389,010 or .0713% increase due to the

operation of the Governmental and Business-type Activities.




Changes in Net Position

The following table shows the revenue and expenses of the total primary government.

Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities Total
06/30/15 06/30/14 06/30/15 06/30/14 06/30/15 06/30/14
Revenues:
Program revenues
Charges for services $ 1,726,496 $ 1,632,886 $ 16,859,780 $ 17,621,125 § 18,686,276 $ 19,254,011
Operating grants & contributions 2,614,802 3,992,061 72,772 27,762 2,687,574 4,019,823
Capital grants & contributions - - 68,076 411,335 68,076 411,335
General revenues:
Taxes 29,535,252 28,402,821 - - 29,535,252 28,402,821
Intergovernmental 5,050 2,105 - - 5,050 2,105
Other 563,105 748,104 224,200 41,500 787,305 789,604
Net pension change (1,077,370) - - - (1,077,370) -
Total revenues 33,367,335 34,777,977 17,224,828 18,101,722 50,592,163 52,879,699
Expenses:
General government 8,475,198 11,487,050 - - 8,475,198 11,487,050
Public safety and judiciary 15,505,799 16,366,410 - - 15,505,799 16,366,410
Transportation 6,329,345 6,482,040 - - 6,329,345 6,482,040
Cultural, parks and recreation 3,328,509 4,264,776 - - 3,328,509 4,264,776
Utilities 6,867,968 6,479,575 3,157,012 3,126,113 10,024,980 9,605,688
Other public services 1,195,693 1,081,758 - - 1,195,693 1,081,758
Economic development 1,254,240 1,001,432 - - 1,254,240 1,001,432
Airport - - 366,596 353,004 366,596 353,004
Parking - - 16,982 5,878 16,982 5,878
Civic Center and Roxy Theatre - - 632,970 772,489 632,970 772,489
Hatbox Sports Complex - - 740,946 809,019 740,946 809,019
Fairgrounds ' - - 32,894 54,488 32,894 54,488
Swim & Fitness Center - - 505,833 529,081 505,833 529,081
War Memorial Park - - 147,415 93,867 147,415 93,867
Financing 97,570 106,653 1,778,084 1,819,129 1,875,654 1,925,782
Total expenses 43,054,322 47,269,694 7,378,732 7,563,068 50,433,054 54,832,762
Increases/(decreases) in net assets
before transfers (9,686,987) (12,491,717) 9,846,096 10,538,654 159,109 (1,953,063)
Transfers 13,490,932 10,676,132 (13,490,932) (10,676,132) - -
Increase/(decrease) in net assets 3,803,945 (1,815,585) (3,644,836) (137,478) 159,109 (1,953,063)
Net position - beginning of year 169,639,472 171,455,057 53,590,429 53,727,907 223,229,901 225,182,964
Net position - end of year $ 173,443,417 § 169,639,472 $  49,945593 $§ 53,590,429 $ 223,389,010 $ 223,229,901

Governmental Activities/Administrative

The change in net position of governmental activities was $3,803,945. Examples of governmental activities are
general government, fire, police, streets, public works and parks.

Business-type Activities

The change in net position of business-type activities was an decrease of $3,644,836. Examples of proprietary
activities are water, waste water services and solid waste, Hatbox sports complex, Civic Center, Roxy Theatre,
Swim & Fitness Center, War Memorial Park, Fairgrounds and Davis Field Airport.




Reporting the City as a Whole

Our analysis of the City as a whole begins on page 9. One of the most important questions asked about the
City’s finances is, “Is the City as a whole better off or worse off as a result of the year's activities?” The Statement
of Net Position and the Statement of Activities report information about the City as a whole and about its activities
in a way that helps answer this question. These statements include all assets and liabilities using the modified
accrual basis of accounting, which is similar to the accounting used in most private-sector companies. All of the
current year's revenues and expenses are taken into account regardless of when cash is received or paid.

e These two statements report the City's net position and changes in them. You can think of the City’s net
position — the difference between assets and liabilities — as one way to measure the City's financial
health, or financial position. Overtime, increases or decreases in the City's net position, is one indicator
of whether its financial health is improving or deteriorating. You will need to consider other non-financial
factors, however, such as changes in the City’s sales tax base and the condition of the City’s roads, to
assess the overall health of the City.

In the Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities, we divide the City into two kinds of activities:

s Governmental activities — Most of the City’s basic services are reported here, including the police, public
works and parks departments, and general administration. Sales taxes, franchise taxes, water revenue
finance most of these activities.

s Business-type activities ~ The City charges a fee to customers to help it cover all or most of the cost of
certain services it provides. The City’s Airport, Sports Complex, Civic Center, Municipal Authority, War
Memorial Park, Swim & Fitness Center, State Fair Authority, Hatbox, Roxy Theatre and Parking Authority
are reported here.

Reporting the City’s Most Significant Funds

Our analysis of the City's major funds begins on page 12. The fund financial statements provide detailed
information about the most significant funds — not the City as a whole. Some funds are required to be established
by State law and by bond covenants. However, the City Council establishes many other funds to help it contro!
and manage money for particular purposes (like the water and sewer program) or to show that it is meeting legal
respensibilities for using certain taxes, grants, and other money (like the gasoline tax). The City's two kinds of
funds — governmental and proprietary — use different accounting approaches.

e Governmental funds — Most of the City's basic services are reported in governmental funds, which focus
on how money flows into and out of those funds and the balances left at year-end that are available for
spending. These funds are reported using an accounting method called modified accrual accounting,
which measures cash and all other financial assets that can readily be converted to cash. The
governmental fund statements provide a detailed short-ferm view of the City’ general government
operations and the basic services it provides. Governmental fund information helps you determine
whether there are more or fewer financial resources that can be spent in the near future to finance the
City’s programs. We describe the relationship (or differences) between governmental activities (reported
in the Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities) and the governmental funds in
reconciliations at the bottom of the fund financial statements.

e Proprietary funds — When the City charges customers for the services it provides —~ whether to outside
customers or to other units of the City — these services are generally reported in proprietary funds.
Proprietary funds are reported in the same way that all activities are reported in the Statement of Net
position and the Statement of Activities. In fact, the City’s enterprise funds (a component of proprietary
funds) are the same as the business-type activities we report in the government-wide statements but
provide more detail and additional information, such as cash flows, for proprietary funds.




THE CITY’S FUNDS

Governmental Type Funds

As of year end, the governmental funds reported a combined fund balance of $18,957,875 which is an increase
from the beginning of the year in the amount of $1,025,020. Several of the governmental funds are capital
expenditure related and, therefore, may reflect capital expenditures or payment on debt service (which are
reflected in the current financial resource-based Fund Financial Statements) as a spending of a portion of
available net position or an increase in net position from unspent net position.

Business-Type Funds
As of year end, the business-type funds reported combined net position of $49,945,593 which is a decrease from
the beginning of the year in the amount of $3,644,836.

CAPITAL ASSETS AND DEBT ADMINISTRATION
Capital Assets
At the end of 2015 the City had $576,428,241 invested in a broad range of capital assets, including police, fire
and public works equipment, buildings, park facilities, infrastructure, roads, bridges and stormwater drainage
structures. This amount represents a net increase (including additions and deductions) of $13,854,644 from fiscal
year 2015. See pages 31-32 in the notes to the financial statements for detailed changes in capital assets.

Debt

At June 30, 2015 the City had $56,155,510 in notes outstanding versus $53,130,241 at June 30, 2014 - an
increase of 5.69% — as shown below.

Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities Total
6/30/15 6/30/14 6/30/15 6/30/14 6/30/15 6/30/14
Notes payable $ 750,897 $ 1493454 $ 45167,702 $ 39,805555 $ 45,918,599 $ 41,299,009
Tax-increment bond - - - - - -
Contract payable 492,865 591,438 - - 492,865 591,438
Sales tax revenue note - - 2,995,000 3,500,000 2,995,000 3,500,000
Judgements payable 383,128 497,877 - - 383,128 497,877
Leases payable 519,918 611,917 5,846,000 6,630,000 6,365,918 7,241,917
Total $ 2,146,808 $ 3,194,686 $ 54,008,702 $ 49935555 $ 56,155,510 $ 53,130,241

Other obligations of the City include accrued vacation pay and sick leave.
ECONOMIC FACTORS AND NEXT YEAR’S BUDGETS AND RATES

The City's elected and appointed officials considered many factors when setting the fiscal year 2015 budget and
fees that will be charged for the business-type activities. One of those factors is the economy.

Muskogee is the third largest manufacturing community in the state. Some of the largest manufacturers are
Georgia-Pacific, Owens lllinois and Dal Tile. The Muskogee County unemployment rate in 2015 was 5.6% down
from 6.0% in 2014. This indicates that economic recession had an effect on the business growth in the area
during the year. :

These indicators were taken into account when adopting the General Fund budget for fiscal year 2016. Amounts
available for appropriation in the General Fund budget are $32,352,060, a decrease of .47% from the fiscal year
2015 budget of $32,504,844.




CONTACTING THE CITY’S FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT

This financial report is designed to provide our citizens, taxpayers, customers, and investors and creditors with a
general overview of the City's finances and to show the City's accountability for the money it receives. If you have

questions about this report or need additional information, contact the City Finance Department at City of
Muskogee, P.O. Box 1927, Muskogee, OK 74402.




CITY OF MUSKOGEE
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
June 30, 2015

Primary Government

Governmental Business-Type
Assets: : Activities Activities Total
Cash and investments:
Cash & cash equivalents (Note 2) $ 11,110,141 § 3,633,920 $ 14,744,061
Investments, at cost 4,865,948 - 4,865,948
Receivables (net of allowance for uncollectibles): .
Services 969,255 2,136,084 3,105,339
Court fines 690,609 - 690,609
Taxes 4,804,867 - 4,804,867
Interest - - -
Due to/from other funds (Note 2D) - - -
Grants receivable 21,500 - 21,500
Net pension asset 510,139 - 510,139
Restricted assets:
Bond fund/cash & investments (Note 2) - 7,576,526 7,576,526
Inventories - 332,934 332,934
Capital assets:
Land and construction in progress 3,594,355 2,416,597 6,010,952
Depreciable buildings, property, equipment and
infrastructure, net of depreciation (Notes 1 & 2) 183,774,325 88,974,312 272,748,637
Total assets $ 210,341,139 $ 105,070,373 $ 315,411,512
Deferred outflows of resources:
Deferred amounts related to pensions 1,605,821 - 1,605,821
Total deferred outflows 1,605,821° - 1,605,821
Liabilities:
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 2,209,771 $ 284,363 $ 2,494,134
Cash overdraft - - -
Temporary customer deposits - 11,165 11,155
Deferred revenues - 4,252 4,252
Accrued compensated absences payable (Note 1) 4,362,569 576,300 4,938,869
Accrued payroll 677,528 44,734 722,262
Payable from restricted assets:

Interest payable - 195,274 195,274
Accrued interest payable 32,166 - 32,166
Leases payable (Note 2) 95,780 801,000 896,780
Notes payable (Note 2) 361,385 2,138,372 2,499,757
Judgements payable 206,523 - 206,523

Non-current liabilities:
OPERB liability 6,974,201 - 6,974,201
Net pension liability 17,438,537 - 17,438,537
Leases payable (Note 2) 662,023 5,045,000 5,707,023
Notes payable (Note 2) 644,493 46,024,330 46,668,823
Judgements payable 176,605 - 176,605
Total liabilities 33,841,581 55,124,780 88,966,361
Deferred inflows of resources:
Deferred amounts related to pensions 4,661,962 - 4,661,962
Total deferred inflows 4,661,962 - 4,661,962
Net position:
Net investment in capital assets 185,221,871 37,382,207 222,604,078
Restricted 10,800,703 7,576,526 18,377,229
Unrestricted (22,579,157) 4,986,860 (17,692,297)
Total net position $ 173,443,417 $ 49,945 593 $ 223,389,010

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the basic financial statements.
9




CITY OF MUSKOGEE
STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
Year Ended June 30, 2015

Program Revenues

Operating Capital Net
Charges for Grants and Grants and (Expense)/
Functions/Programs Expenses Services Contributions Contributions Revenue
Governmental activities:
General government:
City clerk 473,951 § - % - - $ (473,951)
City manager 579,148 - - - (579,148)
City treasurer 191,508 - - - (191,508)
Engineering and planning 1,128,078 - 437,393 - (690,685)
Financial management 2,353,073 - - - (2,353,073)
General government 3,749,440 461,318 95,378 - (3,192,744)
Total general government 8,475,198 461,318 532,771 - (7,481,109)
Public safety and judiciary:
Animal control 261,111 13,524 9,549 - (238,038)
City attorney 278,716 - - - (278,716)
Code enforcement 252,690 - - - (252,690)
Fire 6,566,045 - - - (6,566,045)
Police 7,119,921 1,080,622 138,020 - (5,901,279)
Emergency 911 450,908 - - - (450,908)
Environmental control 496,967 - - - (496,967)
Civil emergency management 79,441 - - - (79,441)
Total public safety and judiciary 15,505,799 1,094,146 147,569 - (14,264,084)
Transportation:
Streets 6,329,345 - 248,682 - (6,080,663)
Total transportation 6,329,345 - 248,682 - (6,080,663)
Cultural, parks and recreation:
Cemetery 151,407 87,995 12,938 - (50,474)
Library 81,276 - - - (81,276)
Parks 3,033,363 83,037 1,241,042 - (1,709,284)
Convention and Tourism - - - - -
Multicultural - - - - _
Civic Center and Roxy Theatre 62,463 - - - (62,463)
Total cultural, parks and recreation 3,328,509 171,032 1,253,980 - (1,903,497)
Utilities:
Water 3,807,932 - - - (3,807,932)
Sewer 1,314,508 - - - (1,314,508)
Solid waste 1,745,528 - - - (1,745,528)
Other public services 1,195,693 - - - (1,195,693)
Economic development 1,254,240 - 431,800 - (822,440)
Total other activities 9,317,901 - 431,800 - (8,886,101)
Financing costs 97,570 - - - (97,570)
Total governmental activities 43,054,322 1,726,496 2,614,802 - (38,713,024)
Business-type activities
Water and sewer 2,903,627 11,306,271 - - 8,402,644
Solid waste 38,922 2,862,534 - - 2,823,612
Aiport 366,596 218,675 - 68,076 (79,845)
Stormwater management 214,463 1,073,830 - - 859,367
Parking 16,982 64,654 - - 47,672
Civic Center and Roxy Theatre 632,970 146,530 5 - (486,435)
Hatbox Sports Complex 740,946 554,822 - - (186,124)
Fairgrouds 32,894 150 - - (32,744)
Swim & Fitness Center 505,833 554,793 - - 48,960
War Memorial Park 147,415 77,521 72,767 - 2,873
Financing costs 1,778,084 - - - (1,778,084)
Total business-type activities 7,378,732 16,859,780 72,772 68,076 9,621,896
Total 50,433,054 $ 18,586,276 $ 2,687,574 68,076 $§  (29,091,128)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the basic financial statements.
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Net (expense)/revenue
General revenues:
Taxes:
Sales and use taxes
Cigarette taxes
Franchise taxes
Property taxes
Gasoline excise taxes
Commercial vehicle taxes
Beverage taxes
Hotel/motel taxes
Intergovernmental programs
Investment earnings
Miscellaneous
Sale of property
Net pension change
Transfers
Total general revenues and transfers

Change in net position
Net position - beginning of year - as restated

Net position - end of year

CITY OF MUSKOGEE
STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
Year Ended June 30, 2015

$

Net (Expense) Revenue

and Changes in Net Position

Governmental Business-Type
Activities Activities Total

(38,713,024) 9,621,896 (29,091,128)
25,422,372 - 25,422,372
283,310 - 283,310
2,165,758 - 2,165,758
210,248 - 210,248
72,720 - 72,720
295,530 - 295530
155,070 - 155,070
930,244 - 930,244
5,050 - 5,050
194,312 4,877 199,189
276,796 219,323 496,119
91,997 - 91,997
(1,077,370) - (1,077,370)

13,490,932 (13,490,932) -
42,516,969 (13,266,732) 29,250,237
3,803,945 (3,644,836) 159,109
169,639,472 53,590,429 223,229,901
173,443,417 $ 49,945593 § 223,389,010

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the basic financial statements.
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Assets:

Cash and investments:
Cash & cash equivalents (Note 2)
Investments, at cost

Receivables (net of allowance for uncollectibles):
Accounts receivable
Court fines
Taxes
Interest

Due from other funds (Note 2D)

Grants receivable

Total assets

Liabilities:
Accounts payable
Due to other funds (Note 2D)
Accrued payroll .

Total liabilities

Fund balance:
Restriced for:
Other purposes
Committed to:
Other purposes
Unassigned

Total fund balance

Total liabilities and fund equity

CITY OF MUSKOGEE
BALANCE SHEET
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
June 30, 2015

Other Total
General Governmental Governmental
Fund Funds Funds
$ 2,879,304 $ 8,230,837 $ 11,110,141
3,000,735 1,865,213 4,865,948
665,420 303,835 969,255
73,463 - 73,463
2,806,943 1,997,924 4,804,867
4,500 17,000 21,500
$ 9,430,365 $ 12,414,809 $ 21,845,174
$ 559,203 $ 1,650,568 $ 2,209,771
579,095 98,433 677,528
1,138,298 1,749,001 2,887,299
- 10,779,039 10,779,039
- 21,664 21,664
8,292,067 (134,895) 8,157,172
8,292,067 10,665,808 18,957,875
$ 9,430,365 $ 12,414,809 $ 21,845,174

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the basic financial statements.

12




CITY OF MUSKOGEE

RECONCILIATION OF THE GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS BALANCE SHEET TO THE GOVERNMENT-WIDE STATEMENT

OF NET POSITION
June 30, 2015

Total Fund Balances - Total Governmental Funds

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of net position are

different because:
Net pension asset
Pension related deferred outflows
Net pension liability

Pension related deferred inflows

Some of the City's reveneus will be collected ater year-end but are not available soon
enough to pay for the current period's expenditures and, therfore, are deferred in
governmental funds: Fines and forfeitures (net of allowance for uncollectibility)

Long-term liabilities are not due and payable in the current period and
therefore are not reported in the funds. These liabilities consist of:

Notes payable
Leases payable
Judgements payable
Accrued compensated absences
OPEB liability
Accrued interest payable
Total

(1,005,878)
(757,803)
(383,128)

(4,362,569)

(6,974,201)

(32,166)

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources
and therefore are not reported in the funds. These assets consist of:

Land
Construction in process
Buildings & Improvements
Furniture & Equipment
Infrastructure - parks
infrastructure - water/sewer
Infrastructrue - streets
Infrastructure - public works
Accumulated depreciation
Total

Net position of governmental activities

$ 3,594,355
22,054,148
23,769,554

4,772,791
17,031,404
375,693,839
38,165
(260,485,576)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the basic financial statements.
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18,957,875

510,139
1,605,821
(17,438,537)

(4,661,962)

617,146

(13,515,745)

187,368,680

173,443,417




CITY OF MUSKOGEE
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
Year Ended June 30, 2015

Other Total
General Governmental Governmental
Fund Funds Funds
Revenues:
Taxes $ 15,947,237 $ 11,126,725 $ 27,073,962
Franchise fees 2,236,581 - 2,236,581
Intergovernmental programs 17,000 1,531,091 1,548,091
Fines and forfeits 1,052,479 82,818 1,135,297
Donations 82,878 1,284,414 1,367,292
Admissions and concessions - 41,694 41,694
Licenses and permits 278,668 13,524 292,192
Interest 191,196 3,116 194,312
Rental receipts 163,665 41,343 205,008
Cemetery collections 87,995 - 87,995
Judgements - 18,984 18,984
Lease proceeds - - -
Miscellaneous revenue 100,344 176,454 276,798
Sale of property 27,927 64,070 91,997
Total revenues 20,185,970 14,384,233 34,570,203
Expenditures:
Current:
General government 4,840,939 3,288,970 8,129,909
Public safety and judiciary 13,211,416 3,224,989 16,436,405
Streets 1,617,755 520,831 2,138,586
Cultural and recreational 2,074,854 969,842 3,044,696
Utilities 5,505,781 775,322 6,281,103
Economic development - 1,253,643 1,253,643
Capital outlay - 7,339,810 7,339,810
Debt Service:
Principal - 1,118,700 1,118,700
Interest expense - 97,570 97,570
Other public services 169,258 1,026,435 1,195,693
Total expenditures 27,420,003 19,616,112 47,036,115
Excess of revenues over (under)
expenditures (7,234,033) (5,231,879) (12,465,912)
Other financing uses:
Operating transfers in (out) 6,324,758 7,166,174 13,490,932
Excess of revenues over (under)
expenditures & transfers (909,275) 1,934,295 1,025,020
Fund balance - beginning of year 9,201,342 8,731,513 17,932,855
Fund balance - end of year $ 8,292,067 $ 10,665,808 $ 18,957,875

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the basic financial statements.
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CITY OF MUSKOGEE
RECONCILIATION OF THE GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES
IN FUND BALANCE TO THE GOVERNMENT-WIDE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
Year Ended June 30, 2015

Net Change in Fund Balances - Total Governmental Funds $ 1,025,020

Amounts reported for governemental activities in the Statement of Activities are
different because:

Revenues in the statement of actvities that do not provide current financial resources (are not
collected within 60 days) are deferred in the governmental funds. Therefore, the recognition
of revenue differs between the two statements. The following represents the net change in
deferred revenue for: Fines and forfeitures (net of allowance for uncollectibility) (54,675)

Government-Wide Statement of Activities report the cost of pension benefits earned
net of employee contributions is reported as an elementof pension expense. The
fund financial statements report pension contributions as expenditures. (1,077,370)

Government-Wide Statement of Activities report accrued compensated absences in
the period incurred. However, Governmental Funds do not pay on this liability until
the employee has left employment. The amount of the change in accrued absences
recorded in the current period. 1,448,893

The interest paid on notes and judgements is recorded as an expense in governmental funds
and not as a payment against the accrual. However, in the Government-Wide Statement of
Activities, the interest is recorded against the payable. This is the amount of interest paid
in the current period. 9,794

Governmental Funds report judgements as property tax income. However, in the
Government-Wide Statement of Activities, the income received is applied as a
liability. This is the amount that increased the liability during the year. (70,823)

Governmental Funds report note and lease payments as expenditures. However, in the
Government-Wide Statement of Activities, the principal paid on that liability is applied
against the liability. This is the amount of principal recorded in the current period. 1,118,700

Governmental Funds report capital outlay as expenditures. However, in the
Government-Wide Statement of Activities, the cost of those assets is allocated
over their estimated useful lives as depreciation expense. This is the amount of
capital assets recorded in the current period. 7,339,810

Depreciation expense on capital assets is reported in the Government-Wide
Statement of Activities, but they do not require the use of current financial resources.
Therefore, depreciation expense is not reported as expenditures in Governmental Funds.
reported as expenditures in Governmental Funds. (5,935,404)

Change in Net Position of Governmental Activities $ 3,803,945

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the basic financial statements.
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CITY OF MUSKOGEE
STATEMENT OF NET FUND POSITION
PROPRIETARY FUNDS
June 30, 2015

Business-type Activities - Enterprise Funds

Muskogee Other
Municipal Enterprise
Authority Funds Totals
Assets:
Cash and investments:
Cash & cash equivalents (Note 2) $ 78,141 $ 3,655,779 § 3,633,920
Investments, at cost - - -
Receivables (net of allowance for uncollectibles): -
Accounts receivable 1,911,162 224,922 2,136,084
Interest - - -
Grants receivable - - -
Due from other funds - - -
Restricted Assets:
Bond fund/cash & investments (Notes 2) 7,576,526 - 7,576,526
Inventories 310,413 22,521 332,934

Capital assets:
Land 1,306,954 1,109,643 2,416,597
Construction in progress - -
Depreciable buildings, property, equipment and

infrastructure, net of depreciation (Notes 1 & 2) 73,531,781 15,442,531 88,974,312
Total assets $ 84714977 3 20,355,396 $ 105,070,373
Liabilities:

Current liabilities:

Accounts payable $ 191,647 $ 92,716 $ 284,363

Due to other funds : - - -

Temporary customer deposits - 11,155 11,155

Deferred revenues - 4,252 4,252

Accrued compensated absences

payable (Note 1) 424,642 151,658 576,300
Accrued payroll - 44,734 44,734
Payable from restricted assets:

Interest payable 195,274 - 195,274
Leases payable (Note 2) 801,000 - 801,000
Notes payable (Note 2) 2,138,372 . - 2,138,372

Non-current liabilities:

Leases payable (Note 2) 5,045,000 - 5,045,000

Notes payable (Note 2) 46,024,330 - 46,024,330

Total liabilities 54,820,265 304,515 55,124,780
Net position:

Net investment in capital assets 20,830,033 16,552,174 37,382,207
Restricted 7,576,526 - 7,576,526
Unrestricted 1,488,153 3,498,707 4,986,860

Total net position $ 29,894,712 $ 20,050,881 $ 49,945,593

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the basic financial statements.
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CITY OF MUSKOGEE

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN FUND NET POSITION

Revenues:
Water revenue
Sewer revenue
Solid waste revenue
Stormwater revenue
Penalty revenue
Parking fees
Rental receipts
Admissions and concessions
Miscellaneous revenue
Activity fees
Intergovernmental programs

Total revenues

Operating expense:
Cultural and recreational
Parking
Planning
Sanitation
Stormwater
Transportation
Water service
Depreciation

Total operating expenses

Income before non-operating revenues,
expenses & transfers

Non-operating revenues (expenses):
Interest revenue
Interest expense
Grant revenues
Loan administration fees

Total
Income (loss) before operating transfers
Transfers in (out)
Change in net position
Net position - beginning of year

Net position - end of year

The accompanying notes are an integ

PROPRIETARY FUNDS
Year Ended June 30, 2015

Business-type Activities - Enterprise Funds

Muskogee Other
Municipal Enterprise
Authority Funds Totals
$ 7,797,621 $ -9 7,797,621
3,253,949 - 3,253,949
- 2,780,348 2,780,348
- 1,073,830 1,073,830
254,701 82,186 336,887
- 64,654 64,654
- 307,156 307,156
- 590,740 590,740
219,323 17,163 236,486
- 640,245 640,245
- 138,035 138,035
11,525,594 5,694,357 17,219,951
- 1,683,538 1,683,538
- 508 508
- 6,058 6,058
- 162,308 162,306
- 150,340 150,340
41,623 - 41,623
2,862,004 694,271 3,556,275
2,903,627 2,697,021 5,600,648
8,621,967 2,997,336 11,619,303
2,130 2,747 4,877
(1,622,017) - (1,622,017)
(156,067) - (156,067)
(1,775,954) 2,747 (1,773,207)
6,846,013 3,000,083 9,846,096
(12,147,088) (1,343,844) (13,490,932)
(5,301,075) 1,656,239 (3,644,836)
35,195,787 18,394,642 53,690,429
$ 29,894,712 $ 20,050,881 $ 49,945,593
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Cash flows from operating activities:
Cash received from customers & service users
Cash payments for goods & services & employees
Other operating revenues
Net cash provided by operating activities

Cash flows from noncapital financing activities:
Net change in inventory
Grants received
Net change in due to/from accounts
Operating transfers out to other funds
Operating transfers in from other funds
Net cash provided (used) for noncapital
financing activities

CITY OF MUSKOGEE
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
PROPRIETARY FUNDS
Year Ended June 30, 2015

Business-type Activities - Enterprise Funds

3

Cash flows from capital and related financing activities:

Acquisition & construction of capital assets
Principal paid on debt
Interest paid on debt
Loan proceeds
Trustee fees
Net cash provided (used) for capital and
related financing activities

Cash flows from investing activities:
(Purchase) liquidation of investments - unrestricted
Interest on investments
Net cash provided by investing activities

Net increase (decrease) in cash & cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents - beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents - end of year

Reconciliation of operating income to net cash
provided by operating activities:
Operating income

Adjustments to reconcile operating income to
net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation

Change in assets and liabilities:
(Increase) decrease in accounts receivable
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable
Increase (decrease) in accrued expenses

Total adjustments

Net cash provided by operating activities

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the basic financial statements.
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Muskogee Other
Municipal Enterprise
Authority Funds Totals
11,544,984 § 5,642,009 $ 17,186,993
(365,532) (2,057,876) (2,423,408)
- 1,664 1,664
11,179,452 3,585,797 14,765,249
(14,390) (4,269) (18,659)
(14,945,047) (3,328,856) (18,273,903)
2,797,959 1,985,011 4,782,970
(12,161,478) (1,348,114) (13,5609,592) -
(4,562,527) (1,619,627) (6,182,154)
(4,283,088) - (4,283,088)
(1,862,437) - (1,862,437)
8,356,235 - 8,356,235
(156,067) - (156,067)
(2,507,884) (1,619,627) (4,127,511)
- 694 694
2,130 2,747 4,877
2,130 3,441 5,571
(3,487,780) 621,497 (2,866,283)
11,142,447 2,934,282 14,076,729
7,654,667 $ 3,655,779 $ 11,210,446
8,621,967 $ 2,997,336 $ 11,619,303
2,862,004 694,271 3,556,275
19,390 (52,348) (32,958)
(299,161) (34,356) (333,517)
(24,748) (19,106) (43,854)
2,557,485 588,461 3,145,946
11,179,452 § 3,685,797 $ 14,765,249




CITY OF MUSKOGEE

STATEMENT OF FIDUCIARY NET POSITION

FIDUCIARY FUNDS
June 30, 2015

Employee Private
Benefit Purpose Agency
Trust Trust Funds
Assets:
Cash and investments:
Cash & cash equivalents (Note 3) $ 1,800,014 41) $ 856,491
Investments - 135,035 383,128
Accounts receivable 76,419 - -
Accrued interest - - -
Total assets $ 1,876,433 134,994 $ 1,239,619
Liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 44 561 - $ -
Due to other funds - - -
Security deposits - - 981,763
Escrow deposits - - 257,856
Total liabilities 44,561 - $ 1,239,619
Net Position:
Held in trust for employee benefits
and other purposes $ 1,831,872 134,994

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the basic financial statements.
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CITY OF MUSKOGEE

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION

Additions:
Contributions:
Employer
Plan members
Insurance recoveries
Sales tax revenues
Investment earnings

Total additions
Deductions:
Retirement contributions
Premiums paid
Claims paid
Administrative expenses
Distributions for benefit of library
Total deductions
Change in net position

Net position beginning of year

Net position end of year

FIDUCIARY FUNDS
Year Ended June 30, 2015

Employee Private
Benefit Purpose
Trust Trust

$ 5,128,322 $ -
450,624 -

722 523

$ 5,579,668 $ 523
$ - § -
120,925 -
4,657,810 -
46,578 -

- 629

4,825,313 629

754,355 (108)

1,077,517 135,100

$ 1,831,872 $ 134,994

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the basic financial statements.
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1.

CITY OF MUSKOGEE
Muskogee, Oklahoma

NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
June 30, 2015

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The City of Muskogee, Oklahoma (the City) complies with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America (GAAP) as applicable to governmental units. The Governmental Accounting Standards Board
(GASB) is responsible for establishing GAAP for state and local governments through its pronouncements
(Statements and Interpretations). The more significant accounting policies established in GAAP and used by the
City are discussed below.

A. Reporting Entity

The City of Muskogee, Oklahoma is organized under the statutes of the State of Oklahoma and was
incorporated in 1898. The City currently operates under a charter ratified at a special election held December
7, 1971. The charter was approved by the Governor on February 18, 1972 and went into effect upon
approval in accordance with article XVill, three, of the Oklahoma Constitution. The City operates under a
Mayor-Council-Manager form of government and is governed by an eight-member council and a ninth voting
member who is the elected mayor. The City provides the following services as authorized by its charter:
general government, public safety (fire and police), streets, public works (water, sewer, and refuse), judicial,
health and social services, culture, parks and recreation, public improvements, planning and zoning.

As required by accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, these financial
statements present the activities of the City and its component units and trusts, entities for which the City is
considered to be financially accountable. Blended component units and trusts, although legally separate
entities are, in substance, part of the City’s operations and so data from these units are combined with the
data of the primary government.

Blended Component Units/Trusts:

The Muskogee Municipal Authority (MMA) was created pursuant to a Trust Indenture, for the benefit of the
City of Muskogee, Oklahoma. MMA was established to acquire, construct, develop, equip, operate, maintain,
repair, enlarge and remodel water and sanitary sewer facilities for the City of Muskogee. The water, sanitary
sewer, and solid waste disposal systems owned by the City have been leased to MMA until such date that all
indebtedness of the Authority is retired or provided for. MMA is a public trust and an agency of the State of
Oklahoma under Title 60, Oklahoma Statutes 1991, Section 176, et seq., and is governed by a board
consisting of eight council members and a mayor identical with the City Council. MMA is exempt from State
and Federal Income taxes. MMA is reported as an enterprise fund.

The Muskogee Parking Authority (MPA) was created pursuant to a Trust Indenture, for the benefit of the City
of Muskogee, Oklahoma. MPA was established to plan, develop, construct, enlarge, remodel, improve, make
alterations, extend, maintain, equip, operate and furnish parking facilities for the City of Muskogee. MPAis a
public trust and an agency of the State of Oklahoma, under Title 60, Oklahoma Statutes 1991, Section 176, et
seq., and is governed by a board consisting of eight council members and a mayor identical with the City
Council. MPA is exempt from State and Federal Income taxes. MPA is reported as an enterprise fund.

The Muskogee State Fair Authority (MSFA) was created pursuant to a Trust Indenture, for the benefit of the
City of Muskogee, Okiahoma. MSFA was created to operate the fairgrounds owned by City and leased to the
MSFA. The Authority is a public trust and an agency of the State of Oklahoma under Title 60, Oklahoma
Statutes 1991, Section 176, et seq., and is governed by a board consisting of nine trustees appointed by the
City Council. MSFA is exempt from State and Federal Income taxes. MSFA is reported as an enterprise
fund.
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1.

CITY OF MUSKOGEE
Muskogee, Oklahoma

NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
June 30, 2015

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

A. Reporting Entity (Continued)

The Muskogee War Memorial Park Authority (MWMPA) was created pursuant to a Trust Indenture date April
9, 1973 and subsequently amended December 8, 1990, for the benefit of the City of Muskogee, Oklahoma.
MWMPA was created to operate a military theme museum and memorial park in Muskogee, Oklahoma. The
MWMPA maintains a World War 1l vintage submarine, the USS Batfish, along with other historical military
artifacts. Ownership of the USS Batfish ultimately vests with the U.S. Department of Navy. The Authority is a
public trust and an agency of the State of Oklahoma under Title 60, Oklahoma Statutes 1991, Section 176, et
seq., and is governed by a board consisting of five trustees appointed by the City Council. MWMPA is
exempt from State and Federal Income taxes. MWMPA is reported as an enterprise fund.

. Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting and Basis of Presentation — Fund Accounting

The City’s basic financial statements consist of government-wide statements, including a statement of net
position and a statement of activities, and fund financial statements, which provide a more detailed level of
financial information. Basis of accounting determines when transactions are recorded in the financial records
and reported on the financial statements. Government-wide financial statements are prepared using the
accrual basis of accounting.

Government-wide Financial Statements — The statement of net position and the statement of activities
display information about the City as a whole. These statements include the financial activities of the primary
government, except fiduciary funds. The activity of the internal service fund is eliminated to avoid “doubling
up” revenues and expenses. The statements distinguish between those activities of the City that are
governmental and those that are considered business-type activities.

The statement of net position presents the financial condition of the governmental and business-type activities
at year-end. The statement of activities presents a comparison between direct expenses and program
revenues for each program or function of the City's governmental activities and for the business-type activities
of the City. Direct expenses are those that are specifically associated with a service, program or department
and therefore clearly identifiable to a particular function. Program revenues include charges paid by the
recipient of the goods or services offered by the program, grants and contributions that are restricted to
meeting the operational or capital requirements of a particular program and interest earned on program
revenues are presented as general revenues of the city, with certain limited exceptions. The comparison of
direct expenses with program revenues identifies the extent to which each business segment or governmental
function is self-financing or draws from the general revenues of the City.

Fund Financial Statements — During the year, the City segregates transactions related to certain City
functions or activities in separate funds in order to aid financial management and to demonstrate legal
compliance. Fund financial statements are designed to present financial information of the City at this more
detailed level. The focus of governmental and enterprise fund financial statements is on major funds. Each
major fund is presented in a separate column. Non-major funds are aggregated and presented in a single
column. Fiduciary funds are reported by type.

Fund Accounting — The accounts of the City are organized and operated on the basis of funds. A fund is an
independent fiscal accounting entity with a self-balancing set of accounts. Fund accounting segregates funds
according to their intended purpose and is used to aid management in demonstrating compliance with
finance-related legal and contractual provisions. There are three categories of funds: governmental,
proprietary and fiduciary.
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1.

CITY OF MUSKOGEE
Muskogee, Oklahoma

NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
June 30, 2015

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

B. Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting and Basis of Presentation ~ Fund Accounting (Continued)

Governmental Funds - are used to account for the government's general government activities.
Governmental fund types use the flow of current financial resources measurement focus and the modified
accrual basis of accounting. Under the accrual basis of accounting, revenues are recognized when
susceptible to accrual (i.e., when they become measurable and available). "Measurable" means the amount
of the transaction can be determined and "available" means collectible within the current period or soon
enough thereafter to be used to pay liabilities of the current period. The government considers all revenues
available if they are collected within 60 days after year-end. Expenditures are recorded when the related fund
liability is incurred, except for unmatured interest on general long-term debt which is recognized when due,
and certain compensated absences and claims and judgments which are recognized when the obligations are
expected to be liquidated with expendable available financial resources.

Sales and use taxes, gasoline excise taxes, cigarette taxes and motor vehicle taxes collected and held by the
state and county at year-end on behalf of the City are susceptible to accrual and are recognized as revenue.
Other receipts and taxes (franchise taxes, licenses, etc.) become measurable and available when cash is
received by the government and are recognized as revenue at that time. ‘

Entitlements and shared revenues are recorded at the time of receipt or earlier if the susceptible to accrual
criteria are met. Expenditure driven grants are recognized as revenue when the qualifying expenditures have
been incurred and all other grant requirements have been met.

The following are the City's major governmental funds:

General Fund — is the main operating fund of the City. It accounts and reports for all financial resources
not required to be reported in another fund.

Other governmental funds of the City that are considered non-major funds include:

Special Revenue Funds — account for specific revenue sources that are legally restricted or committed to
expenditures for specific purposes (not including major capital projects). The following are the City's
Special Revenue Funds: Police Capital Outlay, Fire Capital Outlay, Non-Uniform Capital Outlay,
Community Clean Up, Street and Alley, Solid Waste, Sales Tax Capital Outlay, Home Grants, Park
Developmental Grant, Emergency Management Grants, Police Equipment Grants, Drug Forfeiture
Revenue, Drug Forfeiture Federal, Emergency 911, City-County 911 Trust, CDBG Grants, Park
Development, Repair and Replacement, Job Incentive, Sales Tax Non-Uniform Benefit, Sales Tax Police
Benefit, Sales Tax Fire Benefit, Animal Control, Animal Control Adoption Fees, Community Development,
Weed and Seed Program, Department of Energy Grants, Youth Alcohol Prevention, Youth Fines,
Equipment Maintenance Division, Convention and Tourism and Multicultural.

Capital Projects Fund -~ which accounts for and reports resources that are restricted, committed, or
assigned to expenditure for the acquisition or construction of major capital facilities, other than those
activities financed by proprietary activities or held in trust for individuals, private organizations or other
governments. Capital Project Funds of the City include the Civic Center Improvement, 75 Limited Access
B, 98 Sales Tax Improvement, Street Maintenance Installation, Sewer Rehabilitation, 2009 Capital
Improvement, Chandler Road Detention, Sales Tax Economic Development, Water/Sewer Improvement,
Local Law Enforcement Block Grant, 2014 Sewer Rehabilitation, 2014 Capital improvements and
Spaulding Park Funds.
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1.

CITY OF MUSKOGEE
Muskogee, Oklahoma

NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
June 30, 2015

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

B. Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting and Basis of Presentation — Fund Accounting (Continued)

Debt Service Fund — accounts for and report financial resources that are restricted, committed, or
assigned to principal and interest payments. At balance sheet date there is no known bond, coupon, or
judgment indebtedness outstanding. Debt Service Funds of the City include the Debt Service, Capital
Lease and Tax Increment Funds.

Permanent Funds — accounts for in the same manner as governmental funds, such as the General Fund.
The fund is accounted for using the modified accrual basis of accounting and the measurement focus is
essentially the flow of current financial resources. The City’s permanent fund is the Cemetery Perpetual
Care Fund.

Proprietary Funds — account for and report resources that are restricted to the extent that only earnings (not
principal) may be used for purposes that support the reporting government's programs, excluding private-
purpose trusts and use the accrual basis of accounting. Under this method, revenues are recorded when
earned and expenses are recorded at the time liabilities are incurred. Proprietary funds are classified as
enterprise.

Enterprise Funds — are used to account for those operations that are financed and operated in a manner
similar to private business where the intent of the governing body is that the costs (expenses, including
depreciation) of providing goods or services to the general public on a continuing basis be financed or
recovered primarily through user charges or where the governing body has decided that the determination of
revenues earned, costs incurred and/or net income is necessary for capital maintenance, public policy or
management accountability. The following are the City's major enterprise funds: Muskogee Municipal
Authority — accounts for the revenue from water and sanitary sewer operations.

Other enterprise funds of the City that are considered non-major funds include:
Solid Waste — accounts for the revenue from solid waste operations.
Stormwater — accounts for the revenue from stormwater operations.

Civic Center & Concessions — accounts for the operations of the Civic Center and concessions.

Muskogee Parking Authority — accounts for the operations of parking meters and lots.

Airport — accounts for the airport rental operation.

Roxy Theater — accounts for the operations of the Roxy.

Hatbox — accounts for the operations of the Hatbox.

Swim & Fitness — accounts for the operations of the Swim and Fitness Center.

Muskogee War Memorial Park Authority — accounts for the operations of the U.S.S. Batfish.

Muskogee State Fair Authority — accounts for the operations of state fairgrounds.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

B. Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting and Basis of Presentation — Fund Accounting (Continued)

Fiduciary Funds — account for assets held by the government in a trustee capacity or as an agent on behalf
of others. Trust funds account for assets held by the government under the terms of a formal trust
agreement. Agency funds are custodial in nature and do not present results of operations or have a
measurement focus. Agency funds are accounted for using the modified accrual basis of accounting. These
funds are used to account for assets that the government holds for others in an agency capacity. The City's
fiduciary funds: Trust funds — Employee Benefit Trust and Private Purpose Trust; Agency funds — Meter
Deposit and Escrow Fund.

C. Assets, Liabilities and Equity

1.

Deposits and Investments

Oklahoma Statutes authorize the City to invest in certificates of deposit, repurchase agreements,
passbooks, bankers' acceptances, and other available bank investments provided that all deposits are
fully covered by approved securities pledged to secure those funds. In addition, the City can invest in
direct debt securities of the United States unless law expressly prohibits such an investment.

For financial statement presentation and for purposes of the statement of cash flows, the City’s cash and
cash equivalents are considered to be cash on hand, demand deposits and certificates of deposit with
maturity date of three months or less. Debt instruments with a maturity date of more than three months
from date of issue are considered to be investments. Investments are stated at cost.

Restricted Cash and Investments

The restricted bond fund cash and investments are the result of financial requirements of bond issues and
consist of funds held at the Bank of Oklahoma Trust in Escrow, Debt Service, Reserve and Construction
Accounts. Under the terms and provisions of the Bond Indenture, these special accounts and reserve
funds are maintained with the Trustee bank for the benefit of the holders of the bonds and are not subject
to lien or attachment by any other creditors. These accounts and reserve funds are to be maintained so
long as any bonds are outstanding. Monies contained in the accounts and reserve funds held by the
Trustee are required to be continuously invested in authorized securities that mature not later than the
respective dates when the funds shall be required for the purpose intended by the trust indenture.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The City’s financial instruments include cash and cash equivalents, investments, accounts receivable and
accounts payable. The City’s estimates of the fair value of all financial instruments do not differ materially
from the aggregate carrying values of its financial instruments recorded in the accompanying balance
sheet. The carrying amount of these financial instruments approximates fair value because of the short
maturity of these instruments.

Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the

United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect certain
reported amounts and disclosures. Accordingly, actual resuits could differ from those estimates.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
C. Assets, Liabilities and Equity (Continued)
5. Receivables and Payables

Transactions between funds that are representative of lending/borrowing arrangements outstanding at the
end of the fiscal year are referred to as “due from other/due to other funds”.

6. Inventories

Inventories in governmental funds normally consist of minimal amounts of expendable supplies held for
consumption. The costs of such inventories are recorded as expenditures when purchased rather than
when consumed. Inventories in proprietary funds consist primarily of water meters, other materials held
for subsequent use and concession supplies. Inventory is valued at cost, principally on a first-in, first-out
basis, but not in excess of market.

7. Capital Assets

General capital assets are those assets not specifically related to activities reported in the proprietary
funds. These assets generally result from expenditures in the governmental funds. These assets are
reported in the governmental activities column of the government-wide statement of net position but are
not reported in the fund financial statements. Capital assets utilized by the proprietary funds are reported
in the business-type activities column of the government-wide statement of net position and in the
respective funds. All capital assets are capitalized at cost (or estimated historical cost) and updated for
additions and retirements during the year. Donated fixed assets are recorded at their fair market values
as of the date received. The City maintains a capitalization threshold of $5,000 for the governmental and
proprietary funds.

The City's infrastructure consists of roads, bridges, culverts, curbs and gutter, streets and sidewalks,
drainage system, lighting systems and similar assets that are immovable and of value only to the City.
Such infrastructure assets acquired are capitalized in accordance with the requirements of GASB 34.
Improvements are capitalized; the costs of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add value of the
asset or materially extend an asset's life are not capitalized. Major outlays for capital assets and
improvements are capitalized in proprietary funds as projects are constructed. Interest incurred during
the construction phase of proprietary fund capital assets is reflected in the capitalized value of the asset
constructed, net of interest earned on the invested proceeds over the same period.

All reported capital assets are depreciated except for land and construction in progress. Improvements
are depreciated over the remaining useful lives of the related capital assets. Useful lives for infrastructure
were estimated based on the City's historical records of necessary improvements and replacement.
Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the following estimated useful lives:

Governmental Business-Type -
Activities Activities
Description Estimated Lives Estimated Lives
Buildings 25 - 40 years 25 - 40 years
Building improvements 10 - 25 years 10 - 25 years
Machinery and equipment 3-20 years 3-20 years
Infrastructure - parks/cemtery 10 years 10 years
Infrastructure - water/sewer 10 - 40 years 10 - 40 years
Infrastructure - streets 15 - 25 years 15 - 25 years
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

C. Assets, Liabilities and Equity (Continued)

8.

10.

Compensated Absences

It is the City’s policy to permit full-time, permanent employees to accumulate earned but unused vacation
time after one year of service. Sick leave is earned by full-time, permanent employees upon hire.
Salaried employees are awarded compensatory time for work performed in excess of forty hours per
week. All City employees are entitled to payment for accrued vacation benefits upon termination with no
specified maximums. Uniformed employees are entitled to payment for accrued sick leave upon
termination after twenty years of services regardless of age, while non-uniformed employees vest sick
leave at ten years of service and at reaching age fifty-five.

Vacation and compensatory time is recorded when incurred and sick leave is recorded when vested. The
expense and related liability for vested vacation benefits and compensatory time is recorded in the
respective funds of the City or component unit. The liability is computed based on pay rates in effect as
of June 30, 2015.

Long-term Obligations

The accounting and reporting treatment applied to long-term liabilities associated with a fund are
determined by its measurement focus. All governmental fund types are accounted for on a spending
“financial flow" measurement focus. This means that only current assets and current liabilities are
generally included on their balance sheets. Their reported fund balance (net current assets) is
considered a measure of "available spendable resources". Governmental fund operating statements
present increases (revenues and other financing sources) and decreases (expenditures and other
financing uses) in net current assets. Accordingly, they are said to present a summary of sources and
uses of "available spendable resources” during a period.

All proprietary funds are accounted for on a cost of services or "capital maintenance” measurement focus.
This means that all assets and liabiliies (whether current or non-current) associated with their activity are
included on their balance sheets. Therefore, long-term debt and other obligations financed by proprietary
funds are reported as liabilities in the appropriate funds.

Net Position/Fund Balance

In the government-wide financial statement, net position represents the difference between assets and
liabilities. Net investment in capital assets, consists of capital assets, reduced by the outstanding
balances of any borrowing used for the acquisition, construction, or improvement of those assets. Net
position is reported as restricted when limitations on its use change the nature or normal understanding of
the availability of the asset. Such constraints are either externally imposed by creditors, contributors,
grantors, laws or other governments, or are imposed by law through constitutional provisions or enabling
legislation.

In the fund financial statements, governmental funds report the hierarchy of fund balances. The hierarchy
is based primarily on the degree of spending constraints placed upon use of resources for specific
purposes versus availability of appropriation. An important distinction that is made in reporting fund
balance is between amounts that are considered nonspendable (i.e., fund balance associated with assets
that are not in spendable form, such as inventories or prepaid items, long-term portions of loans and
notes receivable, or items that are legally required to be maintained intact (such as the corpus of a
permanent fund)) and those that are spendable (such as fund balance associated with cash, investments
or receivables).

27




1.

CITY OF MUSKOGEE
Muskogee, Oklahoma

NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
June 30, 2015
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C. Assets, Liabilities and Equity (Continued)
10. Net Position/Fund Balance (Continued)

Amounts in the spendable fund balance category are further classified as restricted, committed, assigned
or unassigned, as appropriate.

Restricted fund balance represents amounts that are constrained either externally by creditors (such
as debt covenants), grantors, contributors or laws or regulations of other governments; or by law,
through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation.

Committed fund balance represents amount that are useable only for specific purposes by formal
action of the government’s highest level of decision-making authority. Such amounts are not subject
to legal enforceability (like restricted amounts), but cannot be used for any other purpose unless the
government removes or changes the limitation by taking action similar to that which imposed the
commitment. The City Ordinance is the highest level of decision-making authority of the City.

Assigned fund balance represents amounts that are intended to be used for specific purposes, but
are neither restricted nor committed. Intent is expressed by the governing body itself, or a
subordinated high-level body or official who the governing body has delegated the authority to assign
amounts to be used for specific purposes. Assigned fund balances includes all remaining spendable
amounts (except negative balances) that are reported in governmental funds other than the general
fund, that are neither restricted nor committed, and amounts in the general fund that are intended to
be used for specific purpose in accordance with the provisions of the standard.

Unassigned fund balance is the residual classification for the general fund. It represents the
amounts that have not been assigned to other funds, and that have not been restricted, committed, or
assigned to specific purposes within the general fund.

11. Resource Use Policy

[t is in the City’s policy for all funds that when an expenditure/expense is incurred for purposes for which
both restricted and unrestricted resources, including fund balances, are available, the City considers
restricted amounts to be spent first before any unrestricted amounts are used. Furthermore, it is the
City’s policy that when an expenditure/expense is incurred for purposes for which committed, assigned, or
unassigned resources, including fund balances, are available, the City considers committed amounts to
be spent first, followed by assigned amounts and lastly unassigned amounts.

2. DETAILED NOTES CONCERNING THE FUNDS

A. Deposits and Investments
Custodial Credit Risk

At June 30, 2015, the City held deposits of approximately $28,426,154 at financial institutions. The City's
cash deposits, including interest-bearing certificates of deposit, are entirely covered by Federal Depository
Insurance (FDIC) or direct obligation of the U.S. Government insured or collateralized with securities held by
the City or by its agent in the City's name.
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2. DETAILED NOTES CONCERNING THE FUNDS (Continued)

A. Deposits and Investments (Continued)

Investment Interest Rate Risk

The City does not have a formal investment policy that limits investment maturities as a means of managing
its exposure to fair value losses arising from increasing interest rates.

Investment Credit Risk

The City has no policy that limits its investment choices other than the limitation of state law as follows:

a.

Direct obligations of the U.S. Government, its agencies and instrumentalities to which the full faith
and credit of the U.S. Government is pledged, or obligations to the payment of which the full faith and
credit of the State is pledged.

Certificates of deposits or savings accounts that are either insured or secured with acceptable
collateral with in-state financial institutions, and fully insured certificates of deposit or savings
accounts in out-of-state financial institutions.

With certain limitation, negotiable certificates of deposit, prime bankers acceptances, prime
commercial paper and repurchase agreements with certain limitations.

County, municipal or school district tax supported debt obligations, bond or revenue anticipation
notes, money judgments, or bond or revenue anticipation notes of public trusts whose beneficiary is a
county, municipality or school district.

Notes or bonds secured by mortgage or trust deed insured by the Federal Housing Administrator and
debentures issued by the Federal Housing Administrator, and in obligations of the National Mortgage
Association.

Money market funds regulated by the SEC and in which investments consist of the investments
mentioned in the previous paragraphs (a.-d.).

The investments held at June 30, 2015 are as follows:

Weighted
Average
Maturity Market
Type (Months) Value Cost
Investments
Money Market N/A $ 24,907,044 $ 24,907,044
Government agency N/A 213 213
Certificates of deposit 7.11 3,618,897 3,518,897
Total investments $ 28,426,154 $ 28,426,154

Reconciliation to Statement of Net Position

Governmental activities $ 15,976,089
Business-type activities 11,210,446
Fiduciary activities . 1,239,619

$ 28,426,154
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2. DETAILED NOTES CONCERNING THE FUNDS (Continued)
B. Deposits and Investments (Continued)
Concentration of Investment Credit Risk
The City places no limit on the amount it may invest in any one issuer. The City has the following of credit
risk: 87.620% in Money Market funds ($24,907,043), 0.001% in Government agencies ($213) and 12.379% in
Certificate of Deposits ($3,518,897).

B. Uncollectible Accounts

The City's estimate of uncollectible accounts receivable by fund and activity is as follows:

Muskogee Muskogee

General Municipal Solid Muskogee

Fund Authority Waste Stormwater
Court fines $ 3713363 $ - 3 - 9 -
Water - 550,856 - -
Refuse - - 97,622 -
Stormwater - - - 20,149
Total $ 3713363 $ 550,856 $ 97,622 $ 20,149
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2. DETAILED NOTES CONCERNING THE FUNDS (Continued)
C. Capital Assets

Primary Government capital asset activity for the year ended is as follows:

Balance Balance
Governmental Activities: 6/30/14 Additions Disposals 6/30/15
Non-depreciable assets:
Land 3,356,949 237,406 $ - 3,594,355
Construction in progress - - - -
Total non-depreciable assets 3,356,949 237,406 - 3,694,355
Depreciable assets:
Buildings and improvements 21,642,372 1,311,776 - 22,954,148
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 23,209,899 559,655 - 23,769,554
Infrastructure - parks 3,834,176 938,615 - 4,772,791
Infrastructure - water/sewer 13,826,480 3,204,924 - 17,031,404
Infrastructure - streets 374,273,725 1,420,114 - 375,693,839
Infrastructure - public services 38,165 - - 38,165
Total depreciable assets 436,824,817 7,435,084 - 444 259 901
Less accumulated depreciation:
Buildings and improvements (17,582,497) (179,266) - (17,761,763
Furniture, fixtures and equipment (15,962,774) (1,144,478) - (17,107,252
Infrastructure - parks (622,603) (179,760) - (802,363
Infrastructure - water/sewer (3,255,583) (330,553) - (3,586,136
Infrastructure - streets (217,089,504) (4,100,393) - (221,189,897
Infrastructure - public services (37,211) (954) - (38,165
Total accumulated depreciation (254,550,172) (5,935,404) - (260,485,576
Net depreciable assets 182,274,645 1,499,680 - 183,774,325
Net governmental activities capital assets $ 185,631,594 $ 1,737,086 $ - 187,368,680
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C. Capital Assets (Continued)

Balance Balance
Business-Type Activities: 6/30/14 Additions Disposals 6/30/15
Non-depreciable assets:
Land 3 2,416,597 $ - - 2,416,597
Construction in progress - - - -
Total non-depreciable assefs 2,416,597 - - 2,416,597
Depreciable assets:
Buildings and improvements - Hatbox 3,115,248 - - 3,115,248
Buildings and improvements - Civic Center 7,071,714 - - 7,071,714
Buildings and improvements - Airport 930,910 - - 930,910
Buildings and improvements - Parking 360,954 - - 360,954
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 13,330,169 1,474,743 - 14,804,912
State fair assets 902,815 - - 902,815
War memorial assets 253,041 4,395 - 257,436
Infrastructure - water/sewer 101,146,091 4,562,527 - 105,708,618
Infrastructure - parking 589,533 60,393 - 649,926
Infrastructure - sports complex 698,724 - - 698,724
Infrastructure - swim & fitness 632,269 37,208 - 669,477
Infrastructure - airport 4,798,410 42,888 - 4,841,208
Total depreciable assets 133,829,878 6,182,154 - 140,012,032
Less accumulated depreciation:
Buildings and improvements - Hatbox (1,699,777) (119,321) - (1,819,098)
Buildings and improvements - Civic Center (1,232,710) (178,017) - (1,410,727)
Buildings and improvements - Airport (405,608) (46,546) - (452,154)
Buildings and improvements - Parking (215,792) (4,399) - (220,191)
Furniture, fixtures and equipment (3,547,970) (408,500) - (3,956,470)
State fair assets (639,523) (17,155) - (656,678)
War memorial assets (166,747) (5,082) - (171,829)
Infrastructure - water/sewer (37,927,616) (2,544,858) - (40,472,474)
Infrastructure - parking (111,557) (12,075) - (123,632)
Infrastructure - sports complex (489,107) (34,936) - (524,043)
Infrastructure - swim & fitness (98,101) (19,141) - (117,242)
infrastructure - airport (946,937) (166,245) - (1,113,182)
Total accumulated depreciation (47,481,445) (3,556,275) - (51,037,720)
Net depreciable assets 86,348,433 2,625,879 - 88,974,312
Net business-type activities capital assets $ 88,765,030 $ 2,625,879 $ - 91,390,909

Depreciation expense was charged as a direct expense of the various programs.
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2. DETAILED NOTES CONCERNING THE FUNDS (Continued)
D. Inter-fund Receivables and Payables

The following schedule reflects the City’s inter-fund due from and due to other governmental funds, which
have been eliminated in the statement of net position presentation in accordance with GASB 34. There were
no due to/from accounts at the end of the year.

E. Capitalized Leases

The City has entered into a capitalized lease for the acquisition of a fire truck. The lease agreements met the
criteria of a capital lease as defined by FASB Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 840-10, Accounting
for Leases, which defines a capital lease generally as one which transfers benefits and risks of ownership to
the lessee. Capital lease payments have been reclassified and are reflected as debt service expenditures in
the financial statements for the governmental funds. These expenditures are reported as expenditures on the
fund financial staiements.

The capital leases are described below.
(1) Lease payable to Motorola Credit Corportaion for the shared lease purchase of
a communications network. Annual payments of $117,399 plus interest at 4.11%

are due on January 1, 2011 through January 1, 2020, to be repaid from the
Emergency 911 Fund. 519,918

Total $ 519,918

The following is a summary of capitalized lease transactions for the year:

Balance Payments Balance
July 1, and June 30,
2014 Additions Cancellations 2015
Capital lease obligations  $ 611,917 $ - % 91,999 $ 519,918

The annual debt service requirements to maturity, including principal and interest, for leases are as follows:

Year Ending

June 30, Principal Interest Total

2016 $ 95,780 $ 21619 $ 117,399
2017 99,717 17,682 117,399
2018 103,815 13,584 117,399
2019 108,082 9,317 117,399
2020 112,524 4,875 117,399
Total $ 519,918 $ 67,077 $ 586,995
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2. DETAILED NOTES CONCERNING THE FUNDS (Continued)

F. Long-term Debt

The City’s long-term debt is described below, segregated between the amounts to be repaid from

governmental activities and amounts to be repaid from business-type activities.

The governmental long-term debt of the financial reporting entity consisted of the following:

A Utility relocation contract payable to the Oklahoma Department of Transportation (ODOT) was issued
November 8, 2004 to refinance the relocation costs of the water and sewer lines within the U.S. Highway
69 relocation which totaled $985,730. It is payable with no interest in monthly installments equal to
1/120"™ of the original balance due beginning within 60 days from the date of receipt by ODOT of the final
billing which was dated May 27, 2005. APB-21 excludes payables whose interest rate is determined by a
government agency from the requirements to impute interest, and no interest has been imputed.
Payments began July 30, 2010, which are to be provided by the Street and Alley Fund.

Judgments payable are various court-assessed judgments against the City, each judgment payable in
three annual installments plus interest at the statutory rate set by the Oklahoma State Treasurer which
was 9.25% for the calendar year 2013, to be repaid from property tax levy.

A note payable from the City was issued to the First National Bank and Trust Company for the purchase
of a fire truck in the amount $789,836. The note is payable in five annual installments of $174,705 plus
interest at 3.45%. This note was paid off in current year.

A note payable from the City was issued to the First National Bank and Trust Company for the purchase
of a fire truck in the amount $564,940. The note is payable in five annual installments of $124,960 plus
interest at 3.45%.

A note payable from the City was issued to the Bancfirst for the purchase of police cars in the amount
$738,000. The note is payable in monthly installments of $13,125 plus interest at 2.5%.

The following is a summary of long-term debt transactions of the Governmental Activities of the City:

Retired,
Balance or Defeased Balance
Outstanding During Outstanding Current
71114 Issued Year 6/30/15 Portion
Governmental Activities:
ODOT contract payable $ 591,438 $ - % (98,573) $ 492,865 $ 98,573
FNB note payable 349,416 - (111,531) 237,885 116,765
FNB note payable 488,515 - (488,515) - -
Bancfirst note payable 655,523 - (142,511) 513,012 146,047
Judgments payable 497,877 70,823 (185,572) 383,128 206,523
Total $ 2582769 $ 70,823 $ (1,026,702) $ 1626890 $ 567,908
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2. DETAILED NOTES CONCERNING THE FUNDS (Continued)

F. Long-term Debt (Continued)

The business-type long-term debt of the financial reporting entity consisted of the following:

Several promissory notes payable were issued by the Municipal Authority of the City of Muskogee to the
Oklahoma Water Resources Board. These notes, although listed individually, were a part of an overall
loan agreement that included both zero interest loans and below market interest loans. The aggregate
interest rates of the overall loan agreement would not be considered “inappropriate” pursuant to APB No.
21 and consequently no interest has been imputed on the zero interest loans.

The Oklahoma Water Resources Board notes are secured by a pledge and assignment of revenues
derived by the Authority from its operation of the water and sewer systems serving the City of Muskogee.
The notes are subject to the terms and provisions of the Loan Agreement dated September 1, 1994,
between the Oklahoma Water Resources Board and the Muskogee Municipal Authority. The terms of this
agreement include (1) a rate covenant and (2) the establishment and funding of debt service funds held
by a local trustee. For the year ended June 30, 2015, the City complied, in all material respects, with
these covenants.

The following were the Oklahoma Water Resources Board notes outstanding at June 30, 2015:

Series 1994A SRF Promissory Note in the original amount of $2,479,231 payable without interest
together with an administrative fee of 0.5% per annum in consecutive semiannual installments
commencing February 15, 1997, and on or before the 15™ day of February and August thereafter up
to and including August 15, 2014. This note was paid off in the current year.

Series 1998A SRF Promissory Note in the original amount of $3,480,000 payable without interest
together with an administrative fee of 0.5% per annum in consecutive semiannual installments
commencing February 15, 1999, and on or before the 15" day of February and August thereafter up
to and including August 15, 2018.

Series 1999A SRF Promissory Note in the original amount of $1,970,766 payable at an average
interest rate of 0.5% per annum in consecutive semiannual installments commencing February 15,
2000, and on or before the 15™ day of February and August thereafter up to and including February
15, 2019.

Series 2008 SRF Promissory Note in the original amount of $30,410,000 payable at an average
interest rate of 3.96% per annum in consecutive semiannual interest installments commencing
September 15, 2009 and principal installments commencing September 15, 2012, and on or before
the 15" day of March and September thereafter up to and including March 15, 2032. Only draws on
the loan have been taken at this time so the full amount has not been reached.

Series 2009 Clean Water SRF Promissory Note in the original amount of $1,435,000 payable at an
average interest rate of 2.36% per annum in consecutive semiannual installments commencing
March 15, 2011, and on or before the 15" day of September and March thereafter up to and including
March 15, 2030. ’

Series 2010 SRF Promissory Note in the original amount of $6,5665,000 payable at an average
interest rate of 2.4% per annum in consecutive semiannual installments commencing December 1,
2010, and on or before the 1* day of June and December thereafter up to and including December 1,
2014. This note was paid off in the current year
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F. Long-term Debt (Continued)

Series 2010A SRF Promissory Note in the original amount of $4,215,000 payable at an average
interest rate of 3.25% per annum in consecutive semiannual installments commencing March 1,
2011, and on or before the 1™ day of March and September thereafter up to and including September
1,2017.

Series 2011 SRF Promissory Note in the original amount of $12,775,000 payable at an average
interest rate of 2.27% per annum in consecutive semiannual interest installments commencing
September 15, 2011 and principal installments commencing September 15, 2015, and on or before
the 1% day of September and March thereafter up to and including September 15, 2034. Only draws
on the loan have been taken at this time so the full amount has not been reached.

Series 2012 SRF Promissory Note in the original amount of $10,645,000 payable at an average
interest rate of 2.55% per annum in consecutive semiannual interest instaliments commencmg
February 1, 2011 and principal installments commencing February 1, 2013, and on or before the 13t
day of August and February thereafter up to and including August 1, 2027.

Series 2013 SRF Promissory Note in the original amount of $7,300,000 payable at an average
interest rate of 2.4% per annum in consecutive semiannual interest installments commencmg
September 15, 2014 and principal installments commencing March 1, 2015, and on or before the 1%
day of September and March thereafter up to and including March 1, 2036.

A note payable from Muskogee Municipal Authority was issued to the City of Muskogee Foundation for
the construction of the Port Place roads in the amount $1,200,000. The note is payable in ten
semiannual installments of $126,698 plus interest at 2% and are due June 1, 2010 to December 1, 2014.
This note was paid off in current year.

A note payable from the Muskogee Municipal Authority was refinanced to Bank of Oklahoma for the
purchase of a new water meter system and City Hall's new heat & air system in the amount of
$8,179,000. The note is payable in twenty semi-annual installments plus interest at 2.2% and are due
July 2012 to January 2022.

On October 9, 2013, the MMA issued its $3,745,000 Muskogee Municipal Authority Sales Tax Revenue Note,
Series 2013. Proceeds from this bond issue were used to financing certain storm water drainage system
improvements. Interest on the note is payable semi-annually on April 1 and October 1 of each fiscal year until
the note is paid. Note payments began April 1, 2014, with final maturity on October 1, 2020. The gross
revenues of the MMA have been pledged to secure the note.
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2. DETAILED NOTES CONCERNING THE FUNDS (Continued)
F. Long-term Debt (Continued)

The City is not obligated in any manner for the debt of its component units or trusts. The following is a
summary of long-term debt transactions of the component units and trusts of the City:

Retired,
Balance or Defeased Balance
Outstanding During Outstanding Current
7/1/14 Issued Year 6/30/15 Portion
Muskogee Municipal Authority:
OWRB - 1994A SRF $ 61,981 § - $ (61,981) $ - $ -
OWRB - 1998A SRF 783,000 - (174,000) 609,000 174,000
OWRB - 1999A SRF 505,324 - (101,065) 404,259 101,085
OWRB - 2008 SRF 22,142,109 123,776 (100,000) 22,165,885 -
OWRB - 2009 SRF 843,872 - (42,138) 801,734 43,307
OWRB - 2010 SRF 835,000 - (835,000) - -
OWRB - 2010A SRF 2,395,000 - (660,000) 1,735,000 675,000
OWRB - 2011 SRF 2,203,365 5,379,594 (290,000) 7,292,959 -
OWRB - 2012 SRF 9,770,000 - (615,000) 9,155,000 630,000
OWRB - 2013 SRF 151,000 2,852,865 - 3,003,865 -
Sales tax note payable 3,500,000 - (505,000) 2,995,000 515,000
Muskogee Foundation 114,904 - (114,904) - -
Honeywell - BOK 6,630,000 - (784,000) 5,846,000 801,000
Total $ 49935555 $ 8,356,235 $ (4,283,088) $ 54,008,702 $ 2,939,372

The annual debt service requirements to maturity, including principal, interest and administrative fees, for
long-term debt are as follows:

Governmental Activities

Year Ending

June 30, Principal Interest Total
2016 $ 567,908 $ 48,689 $ 616,597
2017 522,512 33,371 555,883
2018 275,844 7,156 283,000
2019 162,054 2,144 164,198
2020 98,572 - 98,572
Total $ 1,626,890 $ 91,360 $ 1,718,250
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F. Long-term Debt (Continued)

Business-Type Activities

Year Ending
June 30, Principal Interest Total

2016 $ 2,939,372 $ 512,877 $ 3,452,249
2017 3,003,698 456,500 3,460,198
2018 2,733,002 410,460 3,143,462
2019 2,326,344 352,015 2,678,359
2020 2,182,612 291,211 2,473,823

2021-2025 5,984,427 799,923 6,784,350

2026-2030 2,376,538 175,710 2,552,248
Total 21,545,993 2,998,696 24 544 689

3. OTHER INFORMATION
A. Risk Management
The City is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, and destruction of assets;

errors and omissions; injuries to employees; employee health benefits; unemployment; and natural disasters.
The City manages these various risks of loss as follows:

Type of Loss Method Managed Risk Retained
Torts, errors and omissions Purchased Insurance with Oklahoma Municipal See (1) below
Assurance Group.
Injuries to employees Self-insured. ‘ See (2) below
Physical property loss and Purchased commercial insurance with $1,000 to None
Natural disasters $50,000 deductibles.
Health Self-insured. See (3) below

(1) Liability Protection Plan — The basic insurance agreements with the Oklahoma Municipal Assurance
Group cover claims against municipalities for all government functions, utilities and services covered in
the Plan. These include bodily injury, property damage, wrongful acts, personal injury, and related torts
under the State tort claims law and federal civil rights laws. All public officials, employees, services and
municipal functions are covered unless they are specifically listed as exclusions in the Plan.

The title to all assets acquired by the Plan is vested in the Group. In the event of termination of the
Group, such property shall belong to the then members of the group in equal shares. Each participating
City pays all costs, premiums or other fees attributable to its respective participation in the Plan, and is
responsible for its abligation under any contract entered into with the Plan.

Reserves for claim losses include provisions for reported claims on a case basis and an estimate of
claims incurred but not reported limited by aggregate and individual loss levels as specified by the Plan's
reinsurance contracts. These credits, if any, represent contingent liabilities of the Plan if the re-insurer
was unable to meet its obligations under the reinsurance agreement.

The Plan’s insurance agreements are reinsured for excess losses based upon the contract year. The
significant components of each reinsurance contract can be obtained from the Plan’s annual financial
report.
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3. OTHER INFORMATION (Continued)

A. Risk Management (Continued)

(2) Workers Compensation — The City has established a Workers Compensation Trust Fund. Claims settled

©)

without adjudication or arbitration are paid from the Trust Fund. Since claims for Joint Petition
Settlements, Form 14 Settlements and adjudicated final orders of the Workers’ Compensation Court
pertaining to permanent and temporarily disability awards and medical treatment claims are paid through
the City’s sinking fund by property taxes assessed and collected annually specifically for this purpose, the
risk retained by the City is limited to payments for undisputed temporary disability and medical treatment
payments. The City has excess insurance with retention of $350,000 per accident for police and firemen
and $300,000 for non-uniform employees. No liability for reported claims or for incurred but not reported
claims has been accrued at June 30, 2015. The City's contributions to this fund were $599,481 in the
year ended June 30, 2015. At June 30, 2015, this fund had been fully funded by contributions from the
City and this fund had a fund balance of $0.

Health Benefits — The City has established a trust fund for providing health benefits to its employees and
covered dependents. Health benefits were self-insured up to a specific stop loss amount of $125,000 per
individual claim and an aggregate stop loss of approximately $3,000,000 for 2015. Coverage from a
private insurance company is maintained for losses in excess of the aggregate stop loss amount. All
claims handling procedures are performed by a third-party claims administrator. No liabilities for reported
claims or for claims incurred but not reported have been accrued at June 30, 2015. Management
believes such coverage is sufficient to preclude any significant losses to the City.

All operating funds of the City participate in the program and make payments to the Life and Medical
Trust Fund. Contributions to the fund are based on actuarial estimates of the amounts need to pay prior
and current year claims. The contributions made by the City (as employer) were $4,956,891 and by
employees were $0 for 2015. At June 30, 2015, this fund had a fund balance of $1,599,901.

B. Contingent Liabilities

The City is a defendant in legal actions arising from normal governmental activities. Most of these actions are
covered by insurance. Although the outcome of these lawsuits is not presently determinable, management
believes that the resolution of these matters will not have a material adverse effect on the financial condition
of the City.

Amounts received or receivable from grant agencies are subject to audit and adjustment by grantor agencies,
principally the federal government. Any disallowed claims, including amounts already collected, may
constitute a liability of the applicable funds. The amount, if any, of expenditures which may be disallowed by
the grantor cannot be determined at this time although the City expects such amounts, if any, to be
immaterial.
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3. OTHER INFORMATION (Continued)

C. Employee Retirement System and Other Benefit Plans

The City participates in three employee pension systems as follows:

Oklahoma Police Pension and Retirement Plan - Cost Sharing Multiple Employer - Defined Benefit Plan
Oklahoma Firefighters Pension and Retirement Plan - Cost Sharing Multiple Employer - Defined Benefit Plan
Oklahoma Municipal Retirement Fund (OkMRF) Ageht Multiple Employer — Defined Contribution Plans

QOklahoma Police Pension and Retirement Plan

Plan description — The City of Mannford, as the employer, participates in the Oklahoma Police Pension and
Retirement Plan — a cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan administered by the
Oklahoma Police Pension and Retirement System (OPPRS). Title 11 of the Oklahoma State Statutes, through
the Oklahoma Legislature, grants the authority to establish and amend the benefit terms to the OPPRS.
OPPRS issues a publicly available financial report that can be obtained at www.ok.gov/OPPRS.

Benefits provided — OPPRS provides retirement, disability, and death benefits to members of the plan. The
normal retirement date under the Plan is the date upon which the participant completes 20 years of credited
service, regardless of age. Participants become vested upon completing 10 years of credited service as a
contributing participant of the Plan. No vesting occurs prior to completing 10 years of credited service.
Participants’ contributions are refundable, without interest, upon termination prior to normal retirement.
Participants who have completed 10 years of credited service may elect a vested benefit in lieu of having their
accumulated contributions refunded. If the vested benefit is elected, the participant is entitled to a monthly
retirement benefit commencing on the date the participant reaches 50 years of age or the date the participant
would have had 20 years of credited service had employment continued uninterrupted, whichever is later.

Monthly retirement benefits are calculated at 2.5% of the final average salary (defined as the average paid
base salary of the officer over the highest 30 consecutive months of the last 60 months of credited service)
multiplied by the years of credited service, with @ maximum of 30 years of credited service considered.
Monthly benefits for participants due to permanent disability incurred in the line of duty are 2.5% of the
participants’ final average salary multiplied by 20 years. This disability benefit is reduced by stated
percentages for partial disability based on the percentage of impairment. After 10 years of credited service,
participants who retire due to disability incurred from any cause are eligible for a monthly benefit based on
2.5% of their final average salary multiplied by the years of service. This disability benefit is also reduced by
stated percentages for partial disability based on the percentage of impairment. Effective July 1, 1998, once a
disability benefit is granted to a participant, that participant is no longer allowed to apply for an increase in the
dollar amount of the benefit at a subsequent date.

Survivor's benefits are payable in full to the participant’s beneficiary upon the death of a retired participant.
The beneficiary of any active participant killed in the line of duty is entitled to a pension benefit.

Contributions — The contributions requirements of the Plan are at an established rate determine by
Oklahoma Statute and are not based on actuarial calculations. Employees are required to contribute 8%
percent of their annual pay. Participating cities are required to contribute 13% of the employees’ annual pay.
Contributions to the pension plan from the City were $534,154. The State of Oklahoma also made on behalf
contributions to OPPRS in an amount during the calendar year and this is reported as both a revenue and an
expenditure in the General Fund Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance. In the
government-wide Statement of Activities, revenue is recognized for the state's on-behalf contributions on an
accrual basis of $512,596. These on-behalf payments did not meet the criteria of a special funding situation.
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C. Employee Retirement System and Other Benefit Plans (Continued)

Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Qutflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of
Resources Related to Pensions — At June 30, 2015, the City reported an asset of $510,139 for its
proportionate share of the net pension asset. The net pension asset was measured as of July 1, 2014, and
the total pension liability used to calculate the net pension asset was determined by an actuarial valuation as
of July 1, 2014. The City’s proportion of the net pension asset was based on the City's contributions received
by the pension plan relative to the total contributions received by pension plan for all participating employers
as of June 30, 2014. Based upon this information, the City's proportion was 1.5152%.

For the year ended June 30, 2015, the City recognized pension expense of $186,986. At June 30, 2015, the
City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions from the
following sources:
Deferred Outflows Deferred Inflows
of Resources of resources

Differences between expected and .

actual experience $ - $ 229,190
Changes of assumptions - -
Net difference between projected and

actual earnings on pension plan investments - 1,793,055
Changes in proportion and differences

between City contributions and proportionate

share of contributions - -
City contributions subsequent to the

measurement date 534,154

Total 534,154 2,022,245

$534,154 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to pensions resulting from City contributions
subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as an increase of the net pension asset in the year
ended June 30, 2016. Any other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of
resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension expense as follows:

Year ended June 30:

2016 $ 495,450
2017 495,450
2018 495,450
2019 495,450
2020 40,445

$ 2,022,245
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C. Employee Retirement System and Other Benefit Plans (Continued)

Actuarial Assumptions — The total pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of July 1,
2014, using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all prior periods included in the measurement;

Inflation: 3%

Salary increases: 4.5% to 17.0% average, including inflation

Investment rate of return: 7.5% net of pension plan investment expense

Mortality rates: Active employees (pre-retirement) RP-2000 Blue Collar

Healthy Combined table with age set back 4 years with fully
generational improvement using Scale AA.

Active employees (post-retirement) and nondisabled pensioners:
RP-2000 Blue Collar Healthy Combined table with fully generational
Improvement using scale AA.

Disabled pensioners: RP-2000 Blue Collar Healthy Combined
table with age set forward 4 years with fully generational
improvement using Scale AA.

The actuarial assumptions used in the July 1, 2014, valuation were based on the results of an actuarial
experience study for the period July 1, 2007 to June 30, 2012.

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a building block
method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of pension
plan investment expense, and inflation) are developed for each major asset class. These ranges are
combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates of
return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation. Best estimates of arithmetic
real rates of return for each major asset class included in the pension plan's target asset allocation as of July
1, 2014, are summarized in the following table:

Long-Term Expected

Asset Class Real Rate of Return
Fixed income 2.83%
Domestic equity 6.47%
International equity 6.98%
Real Estate 5.50%
Private Equity 5.96%
Other assets 3.08%

The current allocation policy is that approximately 60% of assets in equity instruments, including public equity,
long-short hedge, venture capital, and private equity strategies; approximately 25% of assets in fixed income
to include investment grade bonds, high yield and non-dollar denominated bonds, convertible bonds, and low
volatility hedge fund strategies; and 15% of assets in real assets to include real éstate, commodities, and
other strategies.
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Discount Rate — The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.5%. The projection of
cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that contributions from plan members will be made
at the current contribution rate and that contributions from employers will be made at contractually required
rates, determined by State statutes. Projected cash flows also assume the State of Oklahoma will continue
contributing 14% of the insurance premium, as established by statute. Based on these assumptions, the
pension plan's fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit
payments of current plan members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension pian
investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability

Sensitivity of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate — The following presents the net
pension liability of the employers calculated using the discount rate of 7.5%, as well as what the Plan's net
pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage point lower (6.5%) or
1-percentage-point higher (8.5%) than the current rate:

1% Decrease Current Discount 1% Increase
(6.5%) Rate (7.5%) (8.5%)
Employers’ net pension liability (asset) $3,045,245 ($510,139) ($3,498,108)

Pension plan fiduciary net position — Detailed information about the pension plan’s fiduciary net position is
available in the separately issued financial report of the OPPRS; which can be located at
www.ok.gov/OPPRS.

Oklahoma Firefighters Pension & Retirement Plan

Plan Description — The City of Mannford, as the employer, participates in the Firefighters Pension &
Retirement — a cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan administered by the Oklahoma
Firefighters Pension & Retirement System (FPRS). Title 11 of the Oklahoma State Statutes grants the
authority to establish and amend the benefit terms to the FPRS. FPRS issues a publicly available financial
report that can be obtained at www.ok.gov/fprs.

Benefits provided — FPRS provides retirement, disability and death benefits to members of the plan.

Benefits for members hired prior to November 1, 2013 are determined as 2.5 percent of the employee’s final
average compensation times the employee’s years of service and have reached the age of 50 or have
completed 20 years of service, whichever is later. For volunteer firefighters, the monthly pension benefit for
normal retirement is $150.60 per month. Benefits vest with 10 years or more service.

Benefits for members hired after November 1, 2013 are determined as 2.5 percent of the employee’s final
average compensation times the employee’s years of service and have reached the age of 50 or have
completed 22 years of service, whichever is later. For volunteer firefighters, the monthly pension benefit for
normal retirement is $165.66 per month. Benefits vest with 11 years or more service.
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Al firefighters are eligible for immediate disability benefits. For paid firefighters, the disability in-the-line-of-
duty benefit for firefighters with less than 20 years of service is equal to 50% of final average monthly
compensation, based on the most recent 30 months of service. For firefighters with over 20 years of service,
a disability in-the-line-of-duty is calculated based on 2.5% of final average monthly compensation, based on
the most recent 30 months, per years of service, with a maximum of 30 years of service. For disabilities not-
in-the-line-of-duty, the benefit is limited to only those with less than 20 years of service and is 50% of final
average monthly compensation, based on the most recent 60-month salary as opposed to 30 months. For
volunteer firefighters, the not-in-the-line-of-duty disability is also limited to only those with less than 20 years
of service and is $7.53 per year of service. For volunteer firefighters, the in-the-line-of-duty pension is
$150.60 with less than 20 years of service, or $7.53 per year of service, with a maximum of 30 years.

A $5,000 lump sum death benefit is payable to the qualified spouse or designated recipient upon the
participant's death. The $5,000 death benefit does not apply to members electing the vested benefit.

Contributions — The contributions requirements of the Plan are at an established rate determined by
Oklahoma Statute and are not based on actuarial calculations. Employees are required to contribute 9% of
their annual pay. Participating cities are required to contribute 14% of the employees’ annual pay.
Contributions to the pension plan from the City were $656,169 (fiscal year contributions). The State of
Oklahoma also made on-behalf contributions to FPRS in an amount during the calendar year and this is
reported as both a revenue and an expenditure in the General Fund Statement of Revenues, Expenditures,
and Changes in Fund Balance. In the government-wide Statement of Activities, revenue is recognized for the
state's on-behalf contributions on an accrual basis of $0. These on-behalf payments did not meet the criteria
of a special funding situation.

Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of
Resources Related to Pensions — At June 30, 2015, the City reported a liability of $17,438,537 for its
proportionate share of the net pension liability. The net pension liability was measured as of July 1, 2014, and
the total pension liability used to calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as
of July 1, 2014. The City’s proportion of the net pension liability was based on the City's contributions
received by the pension plan relative to the total contributions received by pension plan for all participating
employers as of June 30, 2014. Based upon this information the City’s proportion was 1.6958%.

For the year ended June 30, 2015, the City recognized pension expense of $1,566,211. At June 30, 2015,
the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions from
the following sources:
Deferred Outflows Deferred Inflows
of Resources of resources

Differences between expected and

actual experience $ 415,498 $ -
Changes of assumptions - -
Net difference between projected and

actual earnings on pension plan investments - 2,639,717
Changes in proportion and differences

between City contributions and proportionate

share of contributions - -
City contributions subsequent to the

measurement date 656,169 -
Total $ 1,071667 $ 2639717
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$656,169 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to pensions resulting from City contributions
subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability in the year
ended June 30, 2016. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of
resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension expense as follows:

Year ended June 30:

2016 $ 580,984
2017 580,984
2018 580,984
2019 580,984
2020 (78,945)
Thereafter (20,772)

$ 2224219

Actuarial Assumptions —~ The total pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of July 1,
2014, using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all prior periods included in the measurement:

Inflation: 3%
Salary increases: 3.5% to 9.0% average, including inflation
Investment rate of return: 7.5% net of pension plan investment expense

Mortality rates were based on the RP2000 combined healthy with blue collar adjustment as appropriate, with
adjustments for generational mortality improvement using scale AA for healthy lives and no mortality
improvement for disabled lives.

The actuarial assumptions used in the July 1, 2014, valuation were based on the results of an actuarial
experience study for the period July 1, 2007 to June 30, 2012.

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a building block
method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of pension
plan investment expense, and inflation) are developed for each major asset class. These ranges are
combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates of
return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation. Best estimates of
arithmetic real rates of return for each major asset class included in the pension plan’s target asset allocation
as of July 1, 2014, are summarized in the following table:

Target Long-Term Expected
Asset Class Allocation Real Rate of Return
Fixed income 20% 5.48%
Domestic equity 37% 9.61%
International equity 20% 9.24%
Real Estate 10% 7.76%
Other assets 13% 6.88%
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Discount Rate — The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.5%. The projection of
cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that contributions from plan members will be made
at the current contribution rate and that contributions from employers will be made at contractually required
rates, determined by State statutes. Projected cash flows also assume the State of Oklahoma will continue
contributing 36% of the insurance premium, as established by statute. Based on these assumptions, the
pension plan's fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit
payments of current plan members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan
investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability.

Sensitivity of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate — The following presents the net
pension liability of the employers calculated using the discount rate of 7.5%, as well as what the Plan’s net
pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percent point lower (6.5%) or 1-
percentage-point higher (8.5%) than the current rate:

1% Decrease Current Discount 1% Increase

(6.5%) Rate (7.5%) (8.5%)
Employers’ net pension liability (asset) $22,771,289 $17,438,5637 $12,967,953

Pension plan fiduciary net position — Detailed information about the pension plan’s fiduciary net position is
available in the separately issued financial report of the FPRS; which can be located at www.ok.gov/fprs.

Oklahoma Municipal Retirement Fund Defined Contribution Plans

The City has also provided effective March 1, 1992, a defined contribution plan with the Oklahoma Municipal
Retirement Fund. The plan is administered by JP Morgan Chase Bank of Oklahoma City, Oklahoma.
According to state law, the authority for establishing or amending the plan’'s provisions rests with the city
council. The defined contribution plan is available to all full-time employees not already participating in
another plan. In a defined contribution plan, benefits depend solely on amounts contributed to the plan,
investment earnings, and forfeitures of other participants' benefits that may be allocated to such participant's
account. Benefits vest after 7 years of service. The City is currently contributing to two types of defined
contribution plans. Under the Trust Money Purchase Pension plan, the participants are required to contribute
from 7.428% of their compensation and the city is required to match 100% of the mandatory employee
contribution. This percentage can vary from year to year. Participants are permitted to make voluntary
deductible contributions to the plan.

For the year ended June 30, 2015, the following amounts related to the defined contribution plan:
Payroll for covered employees $9,208,697

Employer (City) contributions made $684,022
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Plan Description: City provides post-employment benefit options for health care, prescription drug, dental and
vision benefits for retired employees and their dependents that elect to make required contributions. The
benefits are provided in accordance with State law, police and firefighter's union contracts and the
Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1985 (COBRA). The provisions for these benefits are not
formalized in a contract or plan document but are referenced only in a few sentences in the administrative
policy manual. These benefits are considered for accounting purposes to be provided in accordance with a
single employer substantive plan. A substantive plan is one in which the plan terms are understood by the
City and plan members. This understanding is based on communications between the employers and plan
member and the historical pattern of practice with regard to the sharing of benefit costs. Substantially all of
the government's employees may become eligible for those post-employment benefits if they reach normal
retirement age while working for the City. As of June 30, 2015, approximately 40 retired employees are
receiving benefits under this plan.

Funding Policy. The contribution requirement of the City is an implicit subsidy. The implicit subsidy is not a
direct payment from the employer on behalf of the member but rather stems from retiree contribution levels
that are less than the claims cost at retiree ages. Since claims experience for employees and non-Medicare
eligible retirees are pooled when determining premiums, these retired members pay a premium based on a
pool of members that, on average, are younger and healthier. There is an implicit subsidy from the employee
group since the premiums paid by the retirees are lower than they would have been if the retirees were
insured separately. The subsidies are valued using the difference between the age-based claims costs and
the premium paid by the retiree. The amount required to fund the implicit rate is based on projected pay-as-
you-go financing requirements. For fiscal year 2015, the City contributed to the plan. Plan members receiving
benefits contributed $320,452, or approximately 100 percent of the total premiums, through their required
contribution of $544.91 per month for retiree-only coverage and $879.18 for retiree and spouse medical
coverage, these amounts include dental and vision coverage.

Annual OPEB Cost and Net OPEB Obligation. The City's annual other post-employment benefit (OPEB) cost
(expense) is calculated based on the annual required contribution of the employer (ARC), an amount
actuarially determined in accordance with the parameters of GASB Statement 45. The ARC represents a
level of funding that, if paid on an ongoing basis, is projected to cover normal cost each year and amortize
any unfunded actuarial liabilities (or funding excess) over a period not to exceed thirty years. GASB 45
requires entities with over 200 employees to have the actuarial valuation performed biennially. The following
shows the components of the City's annual OPEB cost and the City's net OPEB obligation for the year ended
June 30, 2014:

Current Service Cost ($320,452) + Amortization Amount ($413,606) = Total Contribution ($734,058).
OPEB obligation for retired employees as determined by Actuarial is $6,974,201.

Actuarial valuations of an ongoing plan involve estimates of the value of reported amounts and assumptions
about the probability of occurrence of events far into the future. Examples include assumptions about future
employment, mortality, and the healthcare cost trend. Amounts determined regarding the funded status of the
plan and the annual required contributions of the employer are subject to continual revision as actual results
are compared with past expectations and new estimates are made about the future. The schedule of funding
progress presents multiyear trend information about whether the actuarial value of plan assets is increasing or
decreasing over time relative to the actuarial accrued liabilities for benefits.
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3. OTHER INFORMATION (Continued)

D. Other Post-Employment Benefits (Continued)

Actuarial
Actuarial Asset Accrued Unfunded
Valuation Value of Valuation Liability AAL Funded
Date Assets Basis (AAL)* (UAAL) Ratio
06/30/114  $ - Actuarial  $§ 6,974,201 $ 6,974,201 0.0%

Actuarial Methods and Assumptions. Projections of benefits for financial reporting purposes are based on the
substantive plan (the plan as understood by the employer and the plan members) and include the types of
benefits provided at the time of each valuation and the historical pattern of sharing of benefit costs between
the employer and plan members to that point. The actuarial methods and assumptions used include
techniques that are designed to reduce the effects of short-term volatility in actuarial accrued liabilities and the
actuarial value of assets, consistent with the long-term perspective of the calculations. In the June 30, 2014,
actuarial valuation, since the City does not pre-fund the retiree healthcare benefits, a discount rate of 4.5%
was used. There were no assets to determine the actuarial value of assets. The UAAL is being amortized

over 30 years as level payments. The remaining amortization period at June 30, 2015, was twenty-six years.
4. OTHER INTERFUND TRANSACTIONS

The Muskogee Municipal Authority entered a lease agreement dated October 1, 1976 with the City of Muskogee.
The property leased from the City includes the presently existing and hereafter acquired water and sanitary sewer
systems. The leased property and the gross revenues derived there from are referred to collectively as the Trust
Estate in the lease which was amended May 1, 1992. The term of the lease is to September 30, 1998, or until
such date as all indebtedness incurred by the Authority and secured by the Trust Estate or any part thereof is
paid. ‘

The Muskogee Municipal Authority provided water and sewer services during the current fiscal year to the

following users at no charge: City of Muskogee Departments, Muskogee State Fair Authority and Muskogee City-
County Health Department.

5. LEASE AGREEMENTS

The City of Muskogee leases unimproved land at the Muskogee Davis Field Airport to various lessees for the
purpose of constructing, operating and maintaining airplane hangars. The initial term of these leases is twenty
years, with right of first refusal to negotiate a new lease at the termination of the initial twenty-year lease. The
rental charge is $0.13 per square foot per year due annually, with limits for increases to rental charges over the
twenty-year term. The annual rental payment for each parcel leased for hangar construction is approximately
$600. At June 30, 2014, there were five such leases in effect. Since the leases are for unimproved realty, there
is no depreciation or other direct expense related to the assets subject to the leases.

The Muskogee War Memorial Park Authority subleases a portion of its museum to an American Legion Post
under the terms of a sublease agreement dated May 14, 1984. The sublease agreement provided a primary
sublease term of 15 years (through 1999) and was renewable by the American Legion Post for an additional 25-
year term. At the inception of the primary lease term, a $13,065 lump-sum payment was received by the
MWMPA in full payment of both the primary and renewal sublease periods. The lump-sum sublease prepayment
is being amortized to income over a 40-year period at a rate of $327 per year and, at June 30, 2015, has a
remaining unamortized balance of $3,527. The unamortized balance is included as deferred revenue.
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6. RELATED ORGANIZATIONS

The Muskogee City Council is responsible for appointing members of the board .of other organizations.
Additionally, the City of Muskogee, in conjunction with the Muskogee County Commissioners, has created jointly-
governed organizations whose boards are composed of or appointed by the City Council and the County
Commissioners. These related organizations exist as separate legal entities and the City's accountability for
these organizations does not extend beyond making the board appointments. A list of organizations for whom the
City and/or County appoints a majority of the members of their boards includes the following:

A More Beautiful Muskogee
Muskogee Housing Authority
Muskogee City-County Port Authority
Muskogee County Transit Authority
Muskogee Industrial Trust
Muskogee Medical Center Authority
Urban Renewal Authority

Muskogee Redevelopment Authority

5. RESTATEMENT OF BEGINNING NET POSITION

Net position of the Government-Wide Governmental Activities financial statements has been restated to include
the pension liability at the beginning of the period in accordance with GASB 68. As a result of the restatement,
total beginning net position has decreased by $18,907,169. The prior period financial statements were not
reissued or restated as a result of this change in accounting principle.
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Required supplementary information includes financial information and disclosures that are required by the
GASB but are not considered a part of the basic financial statements. Such information includes:

Defined Benefit Cost Sharing Plans:

Police
Schedule of the City's proportionate share of the net pensionliability (asset)
Schedule of City contributions

Fire
Schedule of the City’s proportionate share of the net pensionliability (asset)
Schedule of City contributions

Budgetary Comparison Schedule— General, Special Revenue & Capital Projects Funds




CITY OF MUSKOGEE
Muskogee, Oklahoma

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION

ON PENSION PLAN FUNDING PROGRESS
Year Ended June 30, 2015

Exhibit 1

Schedule of the City of Muskogee Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability (Asset)

Oklahoma Police Pension & Retirement System
Last 10 Fiscal Years*

City's proportion of the net pension liability (asset)
City's proportionate share of the net pension liability (asset)
City's covered-employee payroll

City's proportionate share of the net pension liability (asset) as a percentage of
its covered-employee payroll '

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total pension liability (asset)

*The amounts present for each fiscal year were determined as of 6/30

Notes to Schedule:

Only the current fiscal year is presented because 10-year data is not yet available

Exhibit 2
Schedule of City Contributions
Oklahoma Police Pension & Retirement System
Last 10 Fiscal Years

Statutorily required contribution

Contributions in relation to the statutorily required contribution

Contribution deficiency (excess)

City's covered-employee payroll

Contributions as a percentage of covered-employee payroll

Notes to Schedule:

2014

1.5152%
($510,139)

$4,108,878

(12.42%)

101.53%

2014

$534,154

534,154

S -
$4,108,878

13.0%

Only the current fiscal year is presented because 10year data is not yet available.
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Exhibit 3

Schedule of the City of Muskogee’s Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability (Asset)

Oklahoma Firefighters Pension & Retirement System
Last 10 Fiscal Years*

2014

City's proportion of the net pension liability 0.3619%
City's proportionate share of the netpension liability $17,438,537
City's covered-employee payroll $ 4,686,921
City's proportionate share of the net pension liability as a percentage of its

covered-employee payroll 372.07%
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total pension liability 68.12%
*The amounts present for each fiscal year were determined as of 6/30
Notes to Schedule:

Only the current fiscal year is presented because 10year data is not yet available.

Exhibit 4
Schedule of City Contributions
Oklahoma Firefighters Pension & Retirement System
Last 10 Fiscal Years
2014

Statutorily required contribution $ 656,169
Contributions in relation to the statutorily required contribution 656,169
Contribution deficiency (excess) 3 -
City's covered-employee payroll $ 4,686,921
Contributions as a percentage of covered-employee payroll 14.0%

Notes to Schedule:

Only the current fiscal year is presented because 10year data is not yet available.
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REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE

Revenues:
Taxes
Franchise fees
Intergovernmental programs
Fines and forfeits
Donations
Licenses and permits
Interest
Rental receipts
Cemetery collections
Miscellaneous revenue
Sale of property

Total revenues

Expenditures:

Current: ‘
General government
Public safety and judiciary
Streets
Cultural and recreational
Utilities

Capital outlay

Other public services
Total expenditures

Excess of revenue over
(under) expenditures

Other financing sources (uses):

Operating transfers in (out)

Net changes in fund balance

Net assets - beginning of year

Fund balance at end of year

BUDGET (GAAP BUDGETARY BASIS) AND ACTUAL

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
Year Ended June 30, 2015

(Unaudited)
GENERAL FUND
Budgeted Amounts . Variance with
Original Final Final Budget
Budget Budget Actual Over (Under)
$ 15,296,109 $ 15,296,109 $ 15,947,237 $ 651,128
2,250,000 2,250,000 2,236,581 (13,419)
25,000 25,000 17,000 (8,000)
970,000 970,000 1,058,745 88,745
76,878 76,878 82,878 6,000
250,000 250,000 278,668 28,668
40,000 40,000 191,196 151,196
4,025 4,025 163,665 159,640
85,000 85,000 87,995 2,995
221,000 221,000 100,344 (120,656)
35,000 35,000 27,927 (7,073)
19,253,012 19,253,012 20,192,236 939,224
9,153,215 9,153,215 4,840,939 4,312,276
13,045,716 13,045,716 13,211,416 (165,700)
1,629,486 1,629,486 1,617,755 11,731
2,198,959 2,198,959 2,074,854 124,105
6,307,468 6,307,468 5,505,781 801,687
170,000 170,000 169,258 742
32,504,844 32,504,844 27,420,003 5,084,841
(13,251,832) (13,251,832) (7,227,767) 6,024,065
10,834,000 10,834,000 6,324,758 (4,509,242)
(2,417,832) (2,417,832) (903,009) 1,514,823
9,201,342 9,201,342 9,201,342 -
$ 6,783,510 $ 6,783,510 §$ 8,298,333 $ 1,514,823

The Notes to Required Supplemental information are an integral part of this statement.
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STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE
BUDGET (GAAP BUDGETARY BASIS) AND ACTUAL
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
Year Ended June 30, 2015
(Unaudited)

SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS

Budgeted Amounts Variance with
Original Final Final Budget
Budget Budget Actual Over (Under)
Revenues: ‘

Taxes $ 6,202,651 $ 6,202,651 § 6,382,608 §$ (179,957)

Intergovernmental programs 385,000 385,000 1,331,091 (946,091)

Donations 800,000 800,000 732,665 67,335

Fines and forefeitures - - 82,818 (82,818)

Interest 440 440 2,634 (2,194)

Sale of property 35,000 35,000 64,070 (29,070)

Rental receipts - - 41,343 (41,343)

Admissions & concessions 376,085 376,085 41,694 334,391

Licenses and permits 12,000 12,000 13,524 (1,524)

Judgements - - 18,984 (18,984)

Miscellaneous 22,900 22,900 174,774 (151,874)

Total revenues 7,834,076 7,834,076 8,886,205 (1,052,129)
Expenditures:

Economic development 1,410,000 1,410,000 1,253,643 156,357

General government 3,644,376 3,644,376 3,288,970 355,406

Public safety and judiciary 3,253,884 3,253,884 3,224,989 28,895

Streets 518,000 518,000 515,956 2,044

Cultural & recreation 961,300 961,300 836,558 124,742

Water and sewer 366,100 366,100 416,288 (50,188)

Solid waste 368,000 368,000 251,781 116,219

Other public services 1,030,000 1,030,000 1,026,435 3,665

Capital outlay 1,517,898 1,517,898 1,380,048 137,850
Debt service:

Principal 454,386 454,386 444613 9,773

Interest expense 50,000 50,000 48,839 1,161

Total expenditures 13,573,944 13,573,944 12,688,120 885,824
Excess of revenue over

(under) expenditures (5,739,868) (5,739,868) (3,801,915) (166,305)
Other financing sources (uses):

Operating transfers in (out) 4,061,884 4,061,884 4,230,945 169,061
Net changes in fund balance (1,677,984) (1,677,984) 429,030 2,756
Fund balance at beginning of year 4,667,778 4,667,778 4,667,778 -
Fund balance at end of year $ 2,989,794 $ 2,989,794 $ 5,096,808 $ 2,756

The Notes to Required Supplemental Information are an integral part of this statement.
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BUDGET (GAAP BUDGETARY BASIS) AND ACTUAL
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
Year Ended June 30, 2015
(Unaudited)

CAPITAL PROJECTS FUND

Budgeted Amounts Variance with

Original Final Final Budget

Budget Budget Actual Over (Under)
Revenues:

Taxes $ 4,158,652 § 4,158,652 § 4,506,237 $ (347,585)

Intergovernmental programs 200,000 200,000 200,000 -

Donations 500,000 500,000 538,811 (38,811)

Interest 200 200 205 (5)

Lease proceeds - - - -

Miscellaneous - - - -

Total revenues 4,858,852 4,858,852 5,245,253 (386,401)
Expenditures:

Economic development - - - -

General government - - - -

Public safety and judiciary - - - -

Streets 5,000 5,000 4,875 125

Cultural & recreation 135,000 135,000 132,269 2,731

Utilities 110,000 110,000 107,253 2,747

Capital outlay 6,762,952 6,762,952 5,959,762 803,190
Debt service:

Principal 500,000 500,000 488,515 11,485

Interest expense 20,000 20,000 18,870 1,130

Total expenditures 7,532,952 7,532,952 6,711,544 821,408
Excess of revenue over

(under) expenditures (2,674,100) (2,674,100) (1,466,291) 435,007
Other financing sources (uses):

Operating transfers in (out) - - 2,935,229 2,935,229
Net changes in fund balance (2,674,100) (2,674,100) 1,468,938 3,370,236
Fund balance at beginning of year 3,846,591 3,846,591 3,846,591 -
Fund balance at end of year $ 1,172,491 $ 1,172,491 $ 5,315,529 § 3,370,236

The Notes to Required Supplemental Information are an integral part of this statement.
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NOTES TO REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION
Year Ended June 30, 2015
(Unaudited)

BUDGETARY INFORMATION

Annual budgets are adopted on a basis consistent with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America (GAAP) for all governmental funds. The enterprise funds and internal service fund adopt budgets on the non-
GAAP basis wherein service fees, bond and note proceeds are recognized as revenue, principal payments on debt
and capital expenditures are recognized as expenses, and depreciation expense is not budgeted. Annual appropriated
budgets are not adopted for the agency funds. Budgetary data for enterprise funds, internal service, and permanent
funds are not presented in these financial statements.

Prior to July 1, the City Manager (not an elected official) submits a proposed operating budget for the fiscal year
commencing July 1, to the Commissioners (elected officials). Public hearings are held at regular or special meetings
to obtain taxpayer input. Prior to July 1, the budget is legally enacted through passage of a budget resolution. The
operating budget, for all budgeted funds, includes proposed expenditures and the means of financing. Each fund's
appropriated budget is prepared on a detailed line item basis. Revenues are budgeted by source. Expenditures are
budgeted by department and class as follows: personal services, maintenance and operations, capital outlay, transfers,
and debt service. This constitutes the legal level of control. Expenditures may not exceed appropriations at this level.
A more detailed budget is used for operating purposes. All budget revisions at the legal level are subject to final
approval by the City Council. Within these control levels, management may transfer appropriations without council
approval. Revisions to the budget were made during the year in accordance with the provisions of the Oklahoma
Statutes. All annual appropriations lapse at year-end.

The City uses encumbrance accounting. Encumbrances are recorded when purchase orders are issued but generally
are not considered expenditures until liabilities for payments are incurred. At year-end, open purchase orders are
reviewed and payments are made on those where the receipt of goods and services is eminent. The remaining
purchase orders (and encumbrances) are cancelled and reissued during the following year. There are no outstanding
encumbrances at year-end.

55




CITY OF MUSKOGEE
Muskogee, Oklahoma

OTHER SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
June 30, 2015




98

vie $ Geo'eeo’t $ 996'L¥C $ oee'ves $ 00°096°LL $ 9gL'l1LE $ Ly9'lee $ vSL'L8
vle 602'6.8 68865} v.2'/8y 096°L1 969°LLE L¥9'.22 $51°18
(A Z66'C 19l PAAS ] olv'l ¥cL [AA°)
18¢ 112'6.8 8¢.'651 L¥.'98Y GG6'LL 08z'9lLe £26'922 2€5'08
- 9Z8'eSl 12088 950'Ly - 94 - -
- $ 9z8'egl $ L.0'88 $ 9G0°L¥ $ - $ oy $ - $ -
145> $ geo‘eeo’l $ 996'L¥C $ o€e'ves $ 096'L) $ ocL'lie $ 1¥9'/2e $ vSL'L8
|
- L15'€02 - gelille - ovv'se ovv'se ov¥'Ge
- - LeL - - - - -
- - €le - - - - -
7le $ 815'628 $ 229'LvT $ 809'cee $ 096°LL $ 962'262 $ 202'202 $ ¥11'6S
sjuelD) Kepnp EYEETTY Aopvy dn ULIOIUN-UON ail4 asijod
SwioH fepded pios ? ues|d Kepno fepno fepno
Xej sajeg jsons Alunwwo) [epded leyideD jeyded

anuoAay |e1dadg

§10Z ‘ot sunp

SANN4 TVLINIWNYIACD HOrvIN-NON
133HS FONVIVE ONINIGINOD
JIOOMSNIN 40 ALID

saosuejeq puny
pue sanljiqel| [ej0L

sooueleq puny [ejo]
paubisseun
papiwod
papLysay

:sesuejeq pungd

sanijiqel] [ejoL
JloiAed paniooy
spuny} Jayjo o} ang
YeIpISAO YseD
a|qefed sjunoday
-sapljiqer

S}oSSE [B)O |

sjuswisanul g ysed
:S]osSEe pajouisey
ajgeA1a09l Jsaleju|
a|qeN9081 sexe]
ajqengd8l sjuel
19U ‘9|geAIS28l SJUN0JDY
1S00 1B SJUSWISOnU|
sjus|eAInba pue ysed

1sjossy




A}

yg8'e8l $ 861Gl $ 622'99 $ leT'o $ o98¢c'o $ soz'ze $ ¥6 $ €vG'¥S
PEL'LLL 861Gl 6.2'G9 1£2°9 98€'0 652 45 E¥SG'YS
L£€°1 - - - 0oL 8 l -
162691 861Gl 6.2'G9 1€2'9 982'9 162 €6 £PSYS
0z2.'ZL - - - - 8161 - -
02.L'CL $ - $ - $ - $ - $ gve'le $ - $ -
yG8°'e8lL $ 86L'Gl $ 6.£2'69 $ 1€2'9 ¢ 98g'g $ L02'Ce $ ¥6 $ epG'vS
¥G8'€8L $ 861'GlL $ 6.2'69 $ 129 $ 98e'9 $ L0222 $ ¥6 $ _E¥S'vS
sjuelis) 116 LL6 |elopa4 anuanay sjuels) sjuels) juels)
3%=[afe) funoo Aousblawg a.injvo] alnjiojio juswdinbg juswobeuely  juswdolensqg
-R1o B6niqg pnaq a9110d Aouabiowig Hied

anuaAay [eivadg

S10z ‘o€ sunp

SANNS TVINIWNNAIAOD HOrVIN-NON
133HS 3ONV1VE ONINIGINOD

FIO0OMSN 40 ALID

saouejeq punj
pue sapijiqel| [ejoL

saouejeq puny |ejol
paubisseun
papiwwod
pejousay

:seouejeq pund

sapljiqel| [ejoL
jloiAed peniooy
spuny Jsyjo o} eng
YyeipJono ysed
ajgeled sjunoooy
-sapljiqer]

sjosse |ejol

SJUSWIISaALL R UsSB)
:S}oSSE pajouIsSay
ajgeAnledal Jsasau|
a|qeAIe0al saxe |
a|geAIsal sjuelo
19U ‘a|geAnlsdal SJUNOJdY
1502 Je SjusW]saAl]
sjusjeainbs pue ysed

:sjossy

(panunuo))




85

80£'c8 $ 1S.°'6€ $ yS6'LLL $ Oov6'eee $ 186'vCY $ 82C9'9rS $ L20°/8 $ e€gg'cle $
610'28 /69'6¢ 8/8'989 168'00¢ @No,mmm SL¥'22s G18'G8 £8G°181
- (A 879'L 86/ .86 GG0'L 0ge 29L'l
610'Z8 ¥25'6¢€ 0€2'G89 660'00¢ Zy0'cee 09¢g'lcs G9G'G8 128'6.L1L
682’} 09 9/0'LE £40'ce 256'LE eLe've 292'1 0/2'2¢
- - 9/0'LE €y0'ce 266°'Le - - 106"}
682’1 $ 09 $ - $ - $ - $ eLgve $ zoz'L $ €9g'0¢ $
80¢c'c8 $ /G/'6E $ ¥S6°LLL $ ove'eee $ 186'vCY $ 829'OVS $ 120'/8 $ €g8'¢cle $
- - L15'€02 1156'€02 116'c0e - - -
- - - - - - - 000'ZL
- 17A% - - - - ege'l -
80c'c8 $ ©£85'6E $ JEV'VLS $ gZy'oel $ vov'iee $ 829'9¥S $ ¥z/'s8 $ £598'06l $
saa4 jdopy jo3u0n jjouag jjauag Jjouag SaARUaIU| juoweoejdey juswdojenag
Jewuy lewuy ol o9110d wilojiun UoN qor pue yied
xe] sojes xe| sajes xe] sojes Jreday

anuaAdy |eidadg

§10Z ‘o€ aune

SANN4 TVLINIWNJIAOD HOrviN-NON
133HS IONVIVE ONINIGINOD
F3ID0MSNIN 40 ALID

saouejeq puny
pue sagljiqel| [Bjo L

sasuejeq punj jejol
paubisseun
papiuwod
pajoLysay

:soouejeq pung

sanl|iqel] [ejoL
jloiAed paniody
spuny 1ayjo o} anQ
yeipisno yse)d
ajqeAed sjunosoy
-sapliqgen]

sjosse [BJo]

SjuUBWsSoAUl B Yse)d
‘s}esse pajoLisey
a1V ELETR IS V]|
a|qenIooal soxe |
a|qeAiadal sjuel)
19U ‘9|qBAISIaI SJUNOIDY
1S09 1e SJuSWSOAU|
sjusjeainba pue yseH

:sjossy

(penunuo))




69

- 96.'€0€ $ /6lcr $ 820°'lE $ veZ'c ¢ 861'651 $ 9cLL¥

- £09'/22 1612y (cca'sLl) (Z90'51) 861'651 9¢l'ly

- - - (ceg'6Ll) (zo0's)) - -

- A% 4 - - - - -

- 991422 l8l'eh - - 861651 gL'y

- £61'92 - 198'0G1 95e'gL - -

- - - SS¥ - - -

- €619 - $ 90t'05} $ 9s5¢'sl $ - $ -

- 96.'€0€ $ /6l'ch $ g8z0'le $ ¥62'c $ 861'6G1 $ 9cl'ly

- 626'621 - - - - -

- Lev'ge - - ovL'cle - -

- o9cy'ShL $ /6Ly $ gzo'le $ (zsv'0L2) $ 861'6G1 $ ocl'ly

|ein3ino wsunoj ooueuaulely  juswdolaaaq uouanald welbold

- pue juawdinbg Alunwwo) joyoaly paes B
UOUaAUOD YjnoA poop

anuaAdy [eroads

5102 ‘og sunp
SANNH TVINTWNHIA0D HOrvIN-NON

J133HS FONVIVE ONINIGINOD
JIO0MSNIA 40 ALID

seoue[eq puny
pue sepiqel] [ejoL

saouejeq puny [B10L
paubisseufn
pspiwwod
pajpLIsay

:s9ouejeq pundg

sapljiqel] [ejoL
ljoiAed psniooy
spun} Jayjo o} eng
YBIPIDAO YseD
ajqeAed sjunoooy
-saplqenr

sjosse [ejo]

SJUBLLISaAU] % YSBD
:S]9SSE PajoLlsay
a|genlsdal Jsalsly|

a|qeAlaoal soxe .
8]|qeAlsd8l sjuelo)
18U ‘a|geAlS98l SJUN0J2Y
109D JB SJuUSWI}SaAU|
sjusjeAlinba pue ysed
:sjossy
(penunuo))




09

b $ vZLell $ - $ €79°0L $ 9€0'76E $ S8€'/66 $ €67'9) $ G9/ $ sooueeq puny
pue santjiqer] [e3oL

} ¥ZLELL - £79'0L 9£0'¥6€ G8E'/66 68E'VL G9. sooueleq punj [ejoL
- - - - - penssalun

pspiuwo)d
paniosay
:sesuejeq pun4g

- €8y - 06¢ 0¢c6 - 2499 0l
} LW9CLL - €GE'0L 901'e6e G8E'/66 gL'l SGL

- - - $0L'2 - sapljiqel] [ejol
- - jloiAed paniooy
- - spuny Jayjo o} eng
- - YeIplono ysen
- $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ voL'e $ - $ s|qeked sjunoooy
. senjiqer

3 $ velL'ell $ - $ ev9'0L $ 9€0'v6€ $ 59¢'266 $ €6¥'9l $ G9. $ sjosse [BJOL

- - SJUSWISaAUI B YSED

'S}ossE Poalolysay
- - a|qeAleoal JSalau]
- - 8|qeAIS0al SoXe |
- - sjqeAI808] SIUBID
- - 19U ‘s|qeAIsoal SJUN02Y
- - 1S02 JB SjUaLLI}SaAU|

L $ veL'ell $ - $ ev9'0L $ 920'¥6E $ G8¢'/66 $ e6¥'9L $ g9/ $ sjusjeninbe pue yseo
juawdojars( uonualjaqg jJuawanoadug =l juowonoadw] uopejjiqeyay juswaAoiduw] el }ooig 1s}jossy
ojuouoosy peoy xej SS920Y [eude) lamasg Iajue) JIAID juswvdIojuy (penunuo))
Xe| so[eg Jejpueyn so[es 86 peywil L 6002 6002 meT [eso]
sjoafoid [eyded

§10Z ‘o€ aunp
SANNH TVLNIWNYIAOD HOrvIN-NON
133HS FIONV1vd ONINIGINOD
JIDOOMSNIN 40 ALID




19

608'vIY'CL $ €le'v6l - $ lov'le $ evl'6L $ 8¥¥'Ge6'e $ 689'€Zy $ v6'elE) $ L10'S
208'G99°01 €LEV6l - 19v'L€ 198'vl 616'L.8'C 626'vLL €19'759 8eL'T
(ge8'¥EL) - - - - - - - -
¥99°12 Gos'L - z00°L - - - - 96
6£0'6LL°0) 809261 - Gov'oe 1987l 6.6'218'C 626'vLL €L9'v59 Tve'e
100°67.°) - - - 9/8'v 69v'Ly 09.'8¥Z 1.2'6LL 6.2'C
£EY'e6 - - - - - - - -
895'069'L $ - - $ - ¢ 9/8'% $ B9V'LY $ 09.'8¥C $ 12'61L $ 6.2'C
608'7LY'C) $ €/8'v6L - $ Lov'ie $ epL'6l $ 8¥Y'SC6T $ 689'cZy $ vve'elE’L $ 110G
¥26'.66°L - - 169 - 96€'7GC GoL'e8l 1z9'sce -
000°2} - - - - - - - -
GEB'E0E - - - - - - - -
€12'998'L - - - - 000'598'L - - -
LE8'0€T'8 $ €le'v61 - $ 0.l'8 $ evl'6l $ 250'908 $ ves'ore $ /1E'8¥0'L $ 210G

spung aled jusWaIou] Bupjuis yied uonjej|elsu| juawdsAosdul] qeysy juswanoldu
|EJUBSWILIBAOD) lenidiad Xej, Buipneds asueuaUIRIAl feyden 19Mas 19Mesg

Jofepy-uoN Kisyowa) joalls v10C y102 H91BM
1ejor pund 8oIMeg 120 syoafoud [eyided
jusueunad

§10Z ‘o€ sunp
SANN4 TVLNINNYIAOD HOrVIN-NON
133HS IONVIVE DONINIGNOD
JAD0MSNIN 40 ALID

$ seouejeq punj
pue somjiqel| [e1oL

saouejeq punj |ejoL
paubisseun
pajiwo)
pajouisey

:soouejeq pund

sanijiqel| jelol
jloiAed peniooy
spuny Jayjo 0} end
JeIplono yseo
$ a|qeAed sjunoody
isenijiqel’

$ sjosse [e10L

SJUBLLISOAUl B USED
:s}osSe pojouIsey
s|qeAI®03l }SaI8U|

o|geAI@Oal SOXE L
siqeAleoal SjuBID
19U ‘9|qBAISDal SJUN0JVY
1509 1B SJUSWISOAU|
¢ sj9|eAnba pue yseo
:sjossy
(penupuo?)




29

yle $ 602'6.8 $ 68865} $ v.Z'/8% $ 096°LL $ 969°'/LE $ /¥9°'l2C $ #5118 $ 1eak jo pus - aouejeq pung
7ie 107859 Lzz'oee 101°98¢ (zes't) 18G'69¢ ¥60°L12 096°'0Z aeak jo Buluuibaq - sduejeq pund
- 808'0ccC (zee'09) €LL'L0L Z6¥'61 (88°LS) £55'0} ¥61'09 siojsues @ ssinypuadxs
(19pun) J9A0 SBNUBAAI JO SSIIXT
- (000'09) 00€TLE - 000°0€ - - 00009 (3no) ui sigysuen; buperadQ
:sosn Buioueuly 19Y10
- 808'08Z (zeo'zew) €101 (805°01) (G88°1LS) £65°01 y61l sainypuadxe
(1opun) J8A0 SONUBASI JO SSBIXT]
- LE¥'GGE G/L'ZEY g09'cey 009y 61£'202 06.'6EL 112'S5¢ sainjipuadxa [ej0L
- Z - z - Z sZV'EL 066'17) asuadxs 1salsju|
- - - €/5'86 - - LES'LLL 015'2yl fediouid
1821A8S 199d
- L¥8'962 528552 - - 050'6€} - - Aepno [eyded
- - - - - - - - ssoiAles ljgnd 18yl
- - Ommhwh—. - - - - - a)1sem pljos
- _wNw_ﬁm - - - mNm:v.v - - Jomes pue I8lefn
- OwN, WA - - - Oom.v - - uojjestoal g leanyind
- 166'GS - zeo'see - - - - siealls
- S8Z'v6 - - ¥00'9¥% - 0€8'%) 111°16 Asepoipnl pue Ajayes oland
- SyZ' 20V - - - y6e' /L - - juswiwidA0b |elBuaD)
- ¢ - ¢ - ¢ - ¢ - ¢ - s - ¢ - $ juswdojaAsp d1Wouod3
:saanjipuadxy
- $ gpeoct't $ evl $ 8LL'¥ES $ 96¥'GE $ vEy'0SL $ e¥e'oslt $ 1.¥'65¢ $ SonudAal [ej0}]
- 890'v¢ - 09g'9l 65" L1 - - - SNOSUE||SISIN
- - - - - - - - spaaoo.d sjoujesesT
- - - - #8681 - - - syuowabpnf
- - - - - - - - spwied pue sasusdI
- - - - - - - - SUOISS0U0D @ SUOISSIWPY
- - - - - - - - sydisoal [ejusy
- - - - - - - - Ausdoud jo sfesg
- ¥1G (54 891 € 9ze sel Ge saisu
- - - - - - - 81G'Ge s}jiap0} pue sauid
- - - - - - - - suopeuoq
- - - 0£5'662 050°S - - 0L2'69 swesBoid [eyuswiusanobisiul
- $ €99'L02') $ - $ 02.'z22C $ - $ 802°0G1 $ 80Z'05) $ 80Z'0S} $ SOXe L
sjuelo) Aepno 9)JSEM Aoy dn wiiojiun-uoN alld aaljod ISBNUBATY
SuwIoH fenden plog 2 ues[d Kepno Aepno Kepno
xej soleg joans Aunwwog |eyided jepded jepided

onuanay [eioeds

§10T ‘0€ sunf papuzg JedsA
SANN4 TY.LNIINNYIA0D HOrVIA-NON
SIONVIVE aNN4 NI STONVHO ANV STHNLIANIdX3 ‘SINNIATYH H40 ININILVLS ONINIFINOD
J3O0MSNI 40 ALID




€9

YELLLL $ 861Gl $ 6.2'S9 $ 162’9 $ 98¢c'9 $ 65¢C $ 6 $ €¥S'vS
16€'05Y 861'GL 2¢.'6S 868'v1 viv'L - 6 20G'tS
(z52'6.2) - 1588'G (299'8) z16'y 65¢ - R4

- - ¥88'89G - - - - -
(£52'6.2) - (L2g'e9%) (L99'8) zie'y 65C - Ly
£61°19¢ - 12£°€95 199'8 878’ 728'9% - -

- - ozv'oz - - - - -

- - 666°16 - - - - -

- - 806'0G¥ 199°8 8z8’lL 228'9S - -
€6/°19¢ - - - - - - -

- $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ -
96%'28 $ - $ - $ - $ ovl'9 $ 180°LS $ - $
¥8¢'¢8 - - - - - - -

N_\N - - - m m - —.,V

- - - - 18L'9 (0}°74 - -

- - - - - £28'95 - -

- $_ - $__- $__ - $__- $__- $__- $__-

sjuelD) LL6 116 |e1apag BNUBAdY sjuels) sjuelo JuRID)

0gdn funon. Kouabiawig ain}apo4 aunyauo4 juswidinbg juswebeueyy juswdojersq
-A1o pnig pnag aoljod Kouabiowig »ed
anuaAay feroedg
S10Z ‘0¢ aunge papuz Jeap

SANNA TV.LNINNYIAOD HOrvI-NON

SIONVIVE ANN4 NI SIONVHO ANV STUNLIANTAX3 ‘SINNIATY J0 LNIWILVLS ONINIENOD

JIOOMSNIN 40 ALID

$

Jeak jo pua - asuejeq pund
Jeoak jo Buluuibeq - aosuejeq pung

slajsued} ’g sainjipuadxe
(4@pun) J9AO SBNUBADI JO SS9IXT

(no) uj s1sysuey) Buelredo
:sosn Buisueuyy J8Y310

salnjipuadxs
(+opun) J9A0 SBNUBASI JO SS9IXT]

sainyipuadxa jejo
asuadxa 1sa18ju|
jediouid
:@01M8s 1990
Aepjno fepde)d
se91A19s olignd 18aYy10
9)seM plios
19M3S puE J9JBpA
uonesaloal g [emynd
SEENIS
fepipnf pue fisjes ojand
juswiuianch [ersusn
juswidojeAsp olwouod3
:sainyipuadxy

senuaAal [ejo]
snoauejjsosiN
spaaooid sjoujesea
sjuswisbpnp
sywied pue sasua0l]
SUOISSBOUOD B SUOISSIUPY
sydiaoal |ejusy
Auedoud jo sjeg
1s8sa)u|
S}I9HI04 PUB SoUl
suoneuo(
swielboud [ejuswutanobisiu]
saxe|

:s9nuaAay

(penupuod)




¥9

61028 $ 169'6€ $ 8/8'989 $ /68'00¢ $ 620'¢6E $ Siv'ees $ G18'G8 $ €£85'18l $
82Z'y. 890'¢y $28'29g 0/G'9le Zyevee 999°'LLE 8£9'G9 229’62l
16L°L (12€'2) ¥50'vCl (€29'G1) 182'8S 6v.'0lC 22102 196°LS

- - - - - 000006 - -
162°2 (12€2) $50'721 (e29'61) 187'8S (152'689) L2102 196°LS
788'v1 208'c 8¢6'/20'L ley'/1e'L 900'cyL'L 115689 099°c9 ¥68°'122'L

- - - - - - - 9z£'889

- - - - Le8'v. - - -

- - - - yze'ele - 099'c9 -

- - - - oLy'oee - - 89G'€ES

- - - - €16'¥Zl - - -
z88'vl 208z 8€6°,/0°'L Ley' 1Tl SoL'6El - - -

- - - - £91'00¢ £85°L¥ - -

- $ - $ - $ - $ - $ 826'2¥9 $ - $ - $
£/9'22 $ Loy $ 266102} $ 85.°L02'L $ €6.°10C°} $ 092 $ /c£8'e8 $ G998'c/Z'L $

- - - - - - 1061 G6€'
ves'el - - - - - - -

- - - - - - - v69'Ly

- - - - - - - eve'ly

- - - - - - 0.0'%9 -

- L 62¢ G6 ol 092 09 oLl
6716 00y - - - - - 628'¥82

- - - - - - - 8/6'€06

- $ - $ £99'102'L  $ £99't02'L % €99'l02'L  $ - $ - $ - $
so994 jdopy jopuon Njauag Jjousg }jeuag SaAluUadU| juswaoejdey juswdojonsq

jeuwnuy Jewnuy aliq aoljod wLIojunN UON qor pue yed

Xe| so|eg Xe] sojesg xe) sojeg ledoay
anuaAsy jeloadg
S102Z ‘0¢ aunf papu3 Jesjp

SANNH TVLNIWNYIAOD HOrVIN-NON
SIONVTVE NN NI SIONVHD ANV STHUNLIANTAXT ‘SINNIATY 40 LNIWILVLS ONINIFINOD
FIAO0MSNI 40 ALID

Jeak jo pus - asuejeq pun4
JeaA jo Buruuibaq - souejeq pung

siajsuel) p sainppuadxa
(18pun) JI9A0 SINUBASL JO SS3IX]

(1no) ui sieysueny Bugelsdp
:sosn Buroueuyy JaYyjo

sainjipuadxa
(1opun) J9A0 SONUBASL JO SS3IXH

sainjipuadxe [ejo]
asuadxa }salaju|
Jediound
1901188 1987
Aegno jeyde)
s901AI8s 21/gnd J8yiQ
SiseMm pljos
18M3s pue JaJepn
uonealoal g [eInynyd
SEENIS
Kreroipnf pue Aeges olgnd
juswuienob jessusy
juswdojensp o1IoU0og
:saanjipuadxgy

sanuaAal [ejo]
snoaue[[sosiy
spaaoold sjoujesesT]
sjuswabpnp
spuwad pue sssusol]
SUOCISS9OUO0D B SUOISSILPY
sydigoal [ejusy
Auadoud jo ojeg
1saI8ly|
S)ioH0} PUE Saul4
suoneuo(
sweiboud [ejuswuisnobisiuj
Saxe]

:S9NUBAdY

(ponuguo9)




g9

- $ €09'/¢e $ /61'C2H $ (cee'sll) $ (290's1) $ 861'651 $ 9¢l'ly

- 0/9'cze SSZ'L1 (80e'651) (Zov'y) 055'vrl 9¢l' ¥

- (2£90'96} ¥6'0e Slv'6¢ (099'01) 8y9'vl -

- - - 000'002°'2 192'651 - -

- (290'96) AL (gzs'091'2) (Lev'osL) 8Yo'vl -

- Gev'920'} - 7£5'69L'2 51/'G09 0LL') -

- Ge¥'9Z0° L - - - - -

- - - - - OLL') -

- - - 2£5'591'C - - -

- $ - $ - $ - $ G12'609 $ - $ -

- $ 89¢'0£6 $ zZve'oe $ /00'S $ v¥62'SEY $ 8Ge'9l $ -

- - - 100'S veb'c - -

- el - - - - -

- - Zy6'0e - - 86¢'0L -

- - - - 008°Ley - -

- $ ¥¥Z'0e6 $ - $ - $ - $ - $§ -

jean3no wsHnol soul4 @oueudjuiely Juswdofana uonuaAald welboid

~IINA pue ynoA juawdinbg fiunwwon [oyooy paas B
uouaAuon posp

aNuaAdY fe1sedg

S10Z ‘0€ aunp papu3g 1edp
SANNH TVLININNJIAOD HOrvI-NON
SAONVYIVE ANN- NI SSONVHD ANV STUNLIANIdX ‘SINNIATY 40 LNJWALVLS SNINISNOD

JFAOO0MSNIN 40 ALID

$

JedaA jo pua - aouejeq pung
Jeak jo Buiuuybaq - aosuejeq pung

siaysuel} g sainjpusadxs
(+opun) 19A0 SBNUIASI JO SS9IX]

(1no) ui sigysuey) Bugerado
:sasn Huloueuy 18O

sainjpuadxa
(1opun) JOA0 SINUBASI JO SSIIXT]

sainjipuadxs [ej0 1
asuadxe jsesalu|
jedound
:90IAI8S J9ed
Aepno jeyded
$90IAI8S 21|qnd JBY10
B)SeM plloS
1oM3S pue JSIep
uopjealosl g [einjnd
sjeals
Arepipn| pue A1ajes olgnd
juswuianob [eleuss
juswdojaAsp d1Lou0og
:sainjipuadxy

SanuaAal [eJ0L
Snoaue||eosiy
spaaooid sjou/eses]
syuawsbpnr
syuad pue sasusol
SUOISSaOU0D B SUOISSIWPY
sydieoal [ejusy
Auedoud jo sieg
1sadelu|
S}ia4i0} pue saul
suoneuoq
sweibouid jejuswutenobisiul
soxe |

1SONUAASY

(panunuo))




99

L $ vZL'eLlL $ - $ €¥9'0L $ 9e0'v6e $ 68¢'/66 $ 68c'vl $ 59/
L ZLr'sLL - 6850/ £0€'2/0'Y 9/£'%9¢e"L 162'8S 9.
- {(882'2) - 5 (£92'829) (166'99¢) (g06'ct) I
- - - - - (000'9¥8) - -
- (882'2) - ¥s (£92'829) 600'6.¥ (g06'cy) L
- G/€'C - - ZLL' iyl - LE6'EY -
- - - - 0/8'81 - - -
- - - - G15'88Y - - -
- - - - 12E'0¥9 - - -
- - - - - - 1E6'ey -
- G/E'C - - - - - -
- $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ -
- $ /8 $ - $ ¥S $ S¥¥'eor ¢ 600'6.L¥ $ €2 $ 1
- /8 - ¥S [ - €z !
- - - - 000'00Z - - -
- $ - $ - $ - $ £¥¥'692 $ 600'6.7 $ - $ -
juawdojersq uonualad Juswerosduwj g jusweAcidw  uonejiqeyay jJuswasoadwy]  Juelo yoo|g
21I0U0D] peoy xep SS90y [enden lamasg J9JUd) JNAID  JusWIRIOUY
xej sojeg Jajpueys so|es 86 pajwI 57 6002 6002 me |ed0]

sjoafoid [epded

GL0Z ‘0g aunp papuz Jeaj

SANNA TVLNINNIIAOD HOrviN-NON

SIAONVIVE ANN4 NI SIONVHO ANV STUNLIANIXT ‘STNNIATY 40 INFWIALV.LS ONINISINOD

FIAD0MSNIN 40 ALID

$

1eak jo pua - asuejeq pung
1eak jo Bujuuibaq - souejeq pundg

siajsuel} @ sainyupuadxa
(4opun) I9A0 SaNUBAAI JO SSOIXT]

(1no) uj sigysuel} bunesado
:sasn Buloueuy J9Y30

sainjipuadxa
(19pun) 19AC SANUIASL JO SSBIXT]

sainjipuadxs [ejol
ssuadxe jseusjuj
fedisund
:e01MI8S 198
Aepno jende)
saoiAles olqnd 18Yl0
8lSeMm pllos
JoMas pue Jsjepn
uonealoal g jeinyny
sj@ans
Aeoipn| pue Ajejes oland
juswiuianob [eleus9
jusiudojaAsp oiWwouoo]
:saimipuadxy

SaNuUaAal [e}oL
SNoaUE||8osI
spaaoold ajoujesea
syuswabpnp
sywiad pue sssuaof
SUOISSS2U0D B SUOISSILUPY
sydisoal |[ejusy
Auadoud jo ajes
}sei18)u|
s}iaHo} pue seuiq
suofjeuoQ
sweiBboid jeluawuiaAcbisiug
Saxe |

1SONUJAdY

(panunuo)




19

808'G99°'0) $ e/e'v6l $ - $ L9¥'LE $ 198'%1 $ 6/6°2/8'C $ 626'vLL $ €/9'%59 $ gelL'e $ 1eak yo pus - souejeq pung
€16'1e/'8 £25'081 lZ ¥6G'9¢ evi'62 659'L0L'L - - I¥l'ee 1eak jo Buiuuibeq - asuejeq pung
G6C'7E6'L 0s8'el (22 (£z1's) (945'%1) 02€'92L°) 626'vLL €9'¥59 (s00°1L€) sisjsuei} @ seunypuadxa
(18pun) J9A0 SBNUSASI JO SSOIXT
v/1'99L L - - - - LEE'GSYL (192'651) £59'G8Y¥'C - (1no) ui s1gysueyy BupesadQ
:sosn Buoueuy 8410
(628°'1E2'9) 0s8'el (22) (zz1's) (926'%1) £86'02¢ 069'vee (086'0£8'1L) (600'1€) sainjipuadxa
(1epun) J9A0 S9NUBASIL JO SSAIXT
ZLL'919'6l GL0°) - gey'sie 1e€'29 8.1'6Zv'L 1G2'%1L ze9'vie'e 820'Le sainjipuadxa jejo|
0/6°18 - - 198'62 - - - - - osuadxa }salajy]
00.'8LLL - - z.5'68L - - - - - jediound
:80IAISS 198Q
olg'eee’, - - - - 8/z'1zv'L ££2'/89 ¥26'v02'C - Aepno feyden
Gey'9z0’l - - - - - - - - seoiues oljgnd Jaylo
18L°152 - - - - - - - - ajsem pios
Ly5'ecs - - - - - /159 80,69 820'le Iamoes pue Jsjep)
Zv8'696 GL0'} - - 1€€'29 - 00°12 - - uoneaioal g [BINYND
1€8°02S - - - - 00S'c - - - SECIINS
686722 - - - - - - - - fremoipnf pue Aoses o1jand
0.6°882°¢ - - - - - - - - 1USWUIBAOB [eIousS)
£v9'ese’L $ - $ - $ - ¢ - ¢ - ¢ - ¢ - ¢ - $ juswdojensp dlWwou09]
:sainjipuadxy
£eT'¥8E' vl $ 598'vi $ (L2) $ 90g'0LC $ 66125 $ 19/'092')L $ Ly¥'er0’L $ zsg'ery'y $ 61 $ SonusAal [gJoL
YS'9LL 089°L - - - - - - - Snooue||9oSIA
- - - - - - - - - spesooid sjou/asean
¥86'8L - - - - - - - - sjuewabpnp
¥25'€l - - - - - - - - sywiad pue sasusol]
¥69°Lv - - - - - - - - SULOISSBOUOD @ SUOISSIWPY
eve'lLy - - - - - - - - sydisoal jgjuay
0.0'¥9 - - - - - - - - fuedoud jo sjes
ali'e vz - e 6l - - - 6l 1s8l01|
21828 - - - - - - - - SHep0} pue saul
yiLy'y8z'L 8€6°Cl - - 9e/'2s z89'8ve £6¢'L€2 - - suoieuoqd
LB0°LES ) - - - - - - - - sweibo.d |ejuswiuienobisyuj
S¢L'9zL' L $ - $ (L2) $ sszlole $ - ¢ 6.0'206'L  $ ¥50ZL8 $ zeoerr'L $ - $ soxe]
spung alen JuswWaIou| Bupjuig yied uonejjelsu| jJuewonodwij qeyay JuatudAosdu| ISONUBASY
|EJUBIUIBA0D) femdiad Buipinedg 2ouBUIUIBIN fepden lamag Jomag (penunuon)
Jofep-uoN Kisjowian joans 145114 102 JHoJepM
[ejo0l pung wisad 99IAl9g 1490 sjosfoid [eyden

G102 ‘0 eunr pspug 1eap
SANNA TVLINIWNIIAOD HOrVIN-NON
SZONVIVE ANNL NI SIONVHO ANV STUNLIANIdX3 ‘SANNIAIY 40 LNIWILVLS ONINIFNOD
F3O0MSNN 40 ALID




Assets:
Cash and investments:

Cash & cash equivalents (Note 3)

Investments, at cost

Receivables (net of allowance for

uncollectibles):
Accounts receivable
Interest
Grants receivable
Due from other funds
Inventories

Capital assets:
Land
Construction in progress
Depreciable buildings, property,
equipment and infrastructure,

net of depreciation (Notes 1 & 3)

Total assets

Liabilities:
Accounts payable
Due to other funds
Temporary customer deposits
Deferred revenues
Accrued compensated absences
payable (Note 1)
Accrued payroll
Notes payable (Note 2)
Non-current liabilities:
Notes payable (Note 2)

Total liabilities

Net position:
Net investment in capital assets
Restricted
Unrestricted

Total net position

CITY OF MUSKOGEE

COMBINING STATEMENT OF NET FUND POSITION
NON-MAJOR PROPRIETARY FUNDS

June 30, 2015

Muskogee Muskogee
Solid Parking Airport Roxy
Waste Stormwater Authority Fund Theater Concessions
$ 182,672 $ 1,702,448 $ 847,192 § 397,308 $ 1,719 $ 454
166,327 55,259 2,549 - - .
- - - - 1,150 -
- 57,359 1,049,284 3,000 - -
57,324 2,479,626 666,061 4,212,829 - -
$ 406,323 $ 4294692 $ 2565086 $ 4,613,137 $ 2,869 $ 454
$ - 0% 30,354 $ - 3 2,449 $ 2,670 $ -
- - - 3,722 - -
88,116 1,145 - 1,939 - -
- 1,023 - 2,881 - -
88,116 32,522 - 10,991 2,670 -
57,324 2,536,985 1,715,345 4,215,829 - -
260,883 1,725,185 849,741 386,317 199 454
$ 318,207 $ 4262170 $§ 2565086 $ 4,602,146 $ 199 $ 454
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(Continued)
Assets:
Cash and investments:
Cash & cash equivalents (Note 3)
Investments, at cost
Receivables (net of allowance for
uncollectibles):
Accounts receivable
interest
Grants receivable
Due from other funds
Inventories

Capital assets:
Land
Construction in progress
Depreciable buildings, property,
equipment and infrastructure,
net of depreciation (Notes 1 & 3)

Total assets

Liabilities:
Accounts payable
Due to other funds
Temporary customer deposits
Deferred revenues
Accrued compensated absences
payable (Note 1)
Accrued payroli
Notes payable (Note 2)
Non-current liabilities:
Notes payable (Note 2)

Total liabilities

Net position:
Net investment in capital assets
Restricted
Unrestricted

Total net position

$

$

NON-MAJOR PROPRIETARY FUNDS
June 30, 2015

CITY OF MUSKOGEE
COMBINING STATEMENT OF NET FUND POSITION

Total
Swim & War Non-Major
Civic State Fair Fitness Memorial Enterprise
Center Authority Center Park Hatbox Funds
4,064 $ 6,985 § 278,337 § 55,542 $ 79,058 § 3,555,779
- - - - 787 224,922
4,139 - - 13,100 4,132 22,521
. - - - - 1,109,643
5,671,526 246,136 552,235 85,963 1,470,831 15,442,531
5,679,729 $ 253,121 $ 830,572 $ 154,605 $ 1,554,808 $§ 20,355,396
10,758 § 1,056 $ 6,352 $ 2,530 $ 36,547 $ 92,716
11,155 - - - - 11,155
- - - 530 - 4,252
37,618 - 21,382 - 1,458 151,658
2,950 - 7,814 - 30,066 44,734
62,481 1,056 35,548 3,060 68,071 304,515
5,671,526 246,136 552,235 85,963 1,470,831 16,552,174
(54,278) 5,929 242,789 65,582 15,906 3,498,707
5,617,248 $ 252,065 $ 795,024 $ 151,545 $ 1,486,737 $ 20,050,881
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CITY OF MUSKOGEE

COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN FUND NET POSITION

Revenues:

Solid waste revenue
Stormwater revenue
Penalty revenue

Parking fees

Rental receipts
Miscellaneous revenue
Admissions and concessions
Activity fees

Donations
Intergovernmental programs

Total revenues

Operating expense:
Cultural and recreational
Parking

Planning

Sanitation

Stormwater
Transportation
Depreciation

Total operating expenses
Income before non-operating

revenues, expenses
and transfers

Non-operating revenues (expenses):

Interest revenue
Total

Income (loss) before
operating transfers

NON-MAJOR PROPRIETARY FUNDS
Year Ended June 30, 2015

Transfers in (out)

Change in net position

Net position - beginning of year

Net position - end of year

Muskogee Muskogee

Solid Parking Airport Roxy

Waste Stormwater Authority Fund Theater Concessions
2,780,348 $ - $ - % - 3 - 3 -

- 1,073,830 - - . _
82,186 - - - - -

- - 64,654 - - -

- - - 208,468 4,813 -

- - - 10,207 - -

- - - - 10,619 170

- - - - 5 -

- - - 68,076 - -

2,862,534 1,073,830 64,654 286,751 15,437 170

- - - - 38,190 -

- - 508 - - -
6,058 - - - - -

- 162,306 - - - -

- - - 150,340 - -
32,864 52,157 16,474 216,256 - -
38,922 214,463 16,982 366,596 38,190 -

2,823,612 859,367 47,672 (79,845) (22,753) 170

228 1,151 752 261 1 -

228 1,151 752 261 1 -

2,823,840 860,518 48,424 (79,584) (22,752) 170
(2,757,778) 1,042,934 - - 21,000 -
66,062 1,903,452 48,424 (79,584) (1,752) 170
252,145 2,358,718 2,516,662 4,681,730 1,951 284
318,207 $§ 4262170 $ 2565086 $ 4,602,146 § 199 § 454
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CITY OF MUSKOGEE

COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN FUND NET POSITION
NON-MAJOR PROPRIETARY FUNDS
Year Ended June 30, 2015

Total
Swim & War Non-Major
Civic State Fair Fitness Memorial Enterprise
(Continued) Center Authority Center Park Hatbox Funds
Revenues:
Solid waste revenue $ - $ - $ - $ - 9% - % 2,780,348
Stormwater revenue - - - - - 1,073,830
Penalty revenue - - - - - 82,186
Parking fees - - - - - 64,654
Rental receipts 89,700 150 - - 4,025 307,156
Miscellaneous revenue 3,163 - 460 - 520 14,350
Admissions and concessions 38,235 - - - 541,716 590,740
Activity fees - - 554,333 77,521 8,391 640,245
Donations - - - 2,808 - 2,813
Intergovernmental programs - - - 69,959 - 138,035
Total revenues 131,098 150 554,793 150,288 554,652 5,694,357
Operating expense:
Cultural and recreational 413,896 15,739 486,692 142,332 586,689 1,683,538
Parking - - - - - 508
Planning - - - - - -
Sanitation - - - - - 6,058
Stormwater - - - - - 162,306
Transportation - - - - - 150,340
Depreciation 180,884 17,155 19,141 5,083 154,257 694,271
Total operating expenses 594,780 32,894 505,833 147 415 740,946 2,697,021
Income before non-operating
revenues, expenses
and transfers (463,682) (32,744) 48,960 2,873 (186,294) 2,997,336
Non-operating revenues (expenses):
Interest revenue 12 - 232 - 110 2,747
Total 12 - 232 - 110 2,747
Income (loss) before
operating transfers (463,670) (32,744) 49,192 2,873 (186,184) 3,000,083
Transfers in (out) 300,000 - - 50,000 - (1,343,844)
Change in net position (163,670) (32,744) 49,192 52,873 (186,184) 1,656,239
Net position - beginning of year 5,780,918 284,809 745,832 98,672 1,672,921 18,394,642
Net position - end of year $ 5617248 $ 252,065 $ 795,024 § 151,545 $ 1,486,737 $§ 20,050,881
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Cash flows from operating activities:
Cash received from customers & service users
Cash payments for goods & services & employees
Other operating revenues
Net cash provided by operating activities

Cash flows from noncapital financing activities:
Net change in inventory
Net change in due to/from accounts
Operating transfers out to other funds
Operating transfers in from other funds
Net cash provided (used) for noncapital
financing activities

CITY OF MUSKOGEE
COMBINING STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
NON-MAJOR PROPRIETARY FUNDS
Year Ended June 30, 2015

Cash flows from capital and related financing activities:

Acquisition & construction of capital assets
Loan proceeds
Principal paid on debt
Net cash provided (used) for capital and
related financing activities

Cash flows from investing activities:
(Purchase) liquidation of investments - unrestricted
Interest on investments
Net cash provided by investing activities

Net increase (decrease) in cash & cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents - beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents - end of year

Reconciliation of operating income to net cash
provided by operating activities:
Operating income

Adjustments to reconcile operating income to
net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation

Change in assets and liabilities:
(Increase) decrease in accounts receivable
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable
Increase (decrease) in accrued expenses

Total adjustments

Net cash provided by operating activities

Muskogee Muskogee
Solid Parking Airport Roxy
Waste Stormwater Authority Fund Theater Concessions
$ 2,813,735 § 1,066,199 $ 66,127 $ 289,360 § 15437 $ 170
(6,058) (147,673) (508) (154,342) (36,912) -
6,059 (5,763) - 1,368 - -
2,813,736 912,763 65,619 136,386 (21,475) 170
(2,757,778) (571,078) - - - -
- 1,614,011 - - 21,000 -
(2,757,778) 1,042,933 - - 21,000 -
- (1,474,743) (60,393) (42,888) - -
- (1,474,743) (60,393) (42,888) - -
- - 694 - - -
228 1,151 752 261 1 -
228 1,151 1,446 261 1 -
56,186 482,104 6,672 93,759 (474) 170
126,486 1,220,344 840,520 303,549 2,193 284
$ 182,672 $ 1,702,448 $ 847,192 $ 397,308 $ 1,719 § 454
$ 2,823,612 § 859,367 $ 47672 § (79,845) $ (22,753) $ 170
32,864 52,157 16,474 216,256 - -
(48,799) (7,631) 1,473 2,609 - -
- 14,633 - (4,002) 1,278 -
6,059 (5,763) - 1,368 - -
(9,876) 53,396 17,947 216,231 1,278 -
$ 2,813,736 $ 912,763 $ 65,619 $ 136,386 $ (21,475) $ 170
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CITY OF MUSKOGEE
COMBINING STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
NON-MAJOR PROPRIETARY FUNDS
Year Ended June 30, 2015

Total
Swim & War Non-Major
Civic State Fair Fitness Memorial Enterprise
Center Authority Center Park Hatbox Funds
Cash flows from operating activities:
Cash received from customers & service users $ 131,098 § 150 $ 554,793 $ 150,288 $ 554,652 § 5,642,009
Cash payments for goods & services & employees (429,194) (17,626) (498,154) (143,072) (624,337) (2,057,876)
Other operating revenues - - - - - 1,664
Net cash provided by operating activities (298,096) (17,476) 56,639 7,216 (69,685) 3,585,797
Cash flows from noncapital financing activities:
Net change in inventory (4,139) - - (6,031) 5,901 (4,269)
Net change in due to/from accounts - - - - - -
Operating transfers out to other funds - - - - - (3,328,856)
Operating transfers in from other funds 300,000 - - 50,000 - 1,985,011
Net cash provided (used) for noncapital
financing activities 295,861 - - 43,969 5,901 (1,348,114)

Cash flows from capital and related financing activities:
Acquisition & construction of capital assets - - (37,208) (4,395) - (1,619,627)
Loan proceeds - - - -
Principal paid on debt - - - - - .
Net cash provided (used) for capital and
related financing activities - - (37,208) (4,395) - (1,619,627)

Cash flows from investing activities:

(Purchase) liquidation of investments - unrestricted - - - - - 694
Interest on investments 12 - 232 - 110 2,747
Net cash provided by investing activities 12 - 232 - 110 3,441
Net increase (decrease) in cash & cash equivalents (2,223) (17,476) 19,663 46,790 (63,674) 621,497
Cash and cash equivalents - beginning of year 6,287 24,461 258,674 8,752 142,732 2,934,282
Cash and cash equivalents - end of year $ 4,064 $ 6,985 § 278,337 $ 55,542 $ 79,058 $ 3,555,779
Reconciliation of operating income to net cash
provided by operating activities:
Operating income $ (463,682) $ (32,744) $ 48,960 $ 2,873 $ (186,294) $ 2,997,336

Adjustments to reconcile operating income to
net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation 180,884 17,155 19,141 5,083 154,257 694,271
Change in assets and liabilities:

(Increase) decrease in accounts receivable - - - - - (52,348)
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable (4,617) (1,887) (347) (740) (38,674) (34,356)
Increase (decrease) in accrued expenses (10,681) - (11,115) - 1,026 (19,106)
Total adjustments 165,586 15,268 7,679 4,343 116,609 588,461
Net cash provided by operating activities $ (298,096) $ (17,476) $ 56,639 $ 7,216 $ (69,685) $ 3,685,797
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CITY OF MUSKOGEE

COMBINING STATEMENT OF FIDUCIARY NET POSITION

Assets:
Cash and investments:
Cash & cash equivalents (Note 3)
Investments, at cost

Total assets

Liabilities:
Security deposits
Escrow deposits

Total liabilities

AGENCY FUNDS
June 30, 2015

Meter Total
Deposit Escrow Agency
Fund Fund Funds

$ 598,635 $ 257,856 $ 856,491

383,128 - 383,128

$ 981,763 $ 257,856 § 1,239,619

981,763 - 981,763

- 257,856 257,856

$ 981,763 $ 257,856 $ 1,239,619
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CITY OF MUSKOGEE
Muskogee, Oklahoma

SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS
Year Ending June 30, 2015

Federal Program Federal
Federal Grantor/Pass-Through CFDA or Award Revenue Expend-
Grantor/Program Title Number Amount Collected itures
U.S. Department of Transportation:
Federal Aviation Administration - Airport Improvement Program 20.106 43,425 43,425 31,849
Sub-total U.S. Department of Transportation 43,425 43,425 31,849
U.S. Department of Justice:
Passed through the Oklahoma Department of Justice:
Edward Byrne Memorial Justice Assistance Grant 16.738 30,885 20,875 20,875
Edward Byrne Memorial Justice Assistance Grant 16.738 36,153 35,948 35,048
Sub-total U.S. Department of Justice 67,038 56,823 56,823

U.S. Department of Homeland Security:

Passed through the Oklahoma Department of Emergency Management:

Emergency Management Performance Grants 97.042 25,000 12,500 12,500

Sub-total U.S. Department of Homeland Security 25,000 12,500 12,500

U.S. Department of the Interior:

Passed through the Oklahoma Tourism and Recreation:

State Historic Preservation 15.904 4,500 4,500 4,500
Land and Water Conservation 15.916 - - -
Land and Water Conservation 15.916 160,000 17,000 17,000
Sub-total U.S. Department of the Interior 164,500 21,500 21,500
Total of Expenditures of Federal Awards $ 299,963 $ 134,248 $ 122,672

Note A - This schedule was prepared on an accrual (GAAP) basis of accounting consistent with the preparation of the
basic financial statements.
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CITY OF MUSKOGEE
Muskogee, Oklahoma

REPORT REQUIRED BY GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS
June 30, 2015




— CBEW WALTER H. WEBB, CPA
I — Pl'OfeSSiOIlal JANE FRAZIER, CPA
CHARLES E. CROOKS, CPA
— Group, LLP TRISHA J. RIEMAN, CPA
Certified Public Accountants GABRIELLE CONCHOLA, CPA

206 N. HARRISON®P.O. BOX 790 @ CUSHING, OKLAHOMA 74023@918-225-4216 @ FAX 918-225-4315

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING
AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH
GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS

December 15, 2015

Honorable City Council
City of Muskogee
Muskogee, Oklahoma

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and
the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards issued by the Comptrolier
General of the United States, the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each
major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Muskogee, Oklahoma, as of and for the year
ended June 30, 2015, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the City of
Muskogee, Oklahoma’s basic financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated December 15, 2015

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the City's internal control over financial
reporting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose
of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the

effectiveness of the City’s internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the City's
internal control.

- A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or
employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct,
misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal
control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will

not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, ora combination

of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention
by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this section and was
not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or, significant deficiencies.
Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be
material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.

Members of American Institute and Oklahoma Society of CPA’s and Inpact AZ)@ricas, an International Network of independent accounting firms
Serving Our Clients Since 1960




City of Muskogee
December 15, 2015

Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the City’s financial statements are free of material
misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grant
agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the determination of financial
statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our
audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of
noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards.

Purpose of this Report

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance and the
results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control or on
compliance. This reportis an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in
considering the entity’s internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose.

CBEW Professional Group, LLP ’
Certified Public Accountants
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